

CULTURE AND RIGHTS IMPACT ASSESSMENT A Survey of the Field

May 2017

Ginger Gibson, Ph.D., The Firelight Group for Mikisew Cree First Nation





Culture and Rights Impact Assessment: A Survey of the Field

May 2017

by Ginger Gibson, Ph.D., The Firelight Group



for Mikisew Cree First Nation

The author would like to acknowledge the involvement and support of the Mikisew Cree First Nation Government Industry Relations department and the JFK Law legal team. The author would also like to thank Mikisew Cree staff and advisors, as well as key informants for this research, including Terre Satterfield, Ciaran O'Faircheallaigh, Bill Ross, Aaron Bruce, and Alistair MacDonald.

MCFN acknowledges funding from the Canadian Environmental Assessment Agency in support of this project. Canada

Graphic design by Nadene Rehnby, Hands On Publications

Cover photo MCFN, Jennifer Schine/Firelight

Disclaimer and Limits on Use

The information contained in this report is based on research conducted by the author and reflects the understandings of author based on a snapshot of knowledge to date. It is not intended to be a complete or authoritative depiction of the dynamic and living system of use and knowledge maintained by Indigenous peoples, and the information presented should not be construed as to define, limit, or otherwise constrain the Treaty and Aboriginal rights of any nation.



Mikisew Cree First Nation Government & Industry Relations 206 – 9401 Franklin Avenue Fort McMurray, Alberta, Canada T9H 327 T: 780-714-6500 / F: 780-715-4098

mcfngir.ca

Contents

PHOTO: JENNIFER SCHINE/FIRELIGHT

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY			
PART 1	INTRODUCTION		
PART 2	DEFINITIONS OF CULTURE AND RIGHTS		
	Culture		
	Rights		
PART 3	SELECTING METHODS AND INDICATORS, AND DESIGNING VALUED COMPONENTS FOR ASSESSING IMPACTS TO CULTURE AND RIGHTS 11		
	Cultural Heritage Approaches: Going Beyond Archaeology 11		
	Traditional Land Use Studies		
	Ecosystem and Cultural Services: Quantifying and Displaying Social and Cultural Values 18		
	Cultural Landscapes Delineation: Relationships of People and the Land		
	Indigenous Health Indicators: Giving Form to Indigenous Values		
	Keystone Species and Places: Rating Profundity		
	Social Impact Assessment		
	Rights: Sufficiency of Resources		
	Rights: Way of Life		
	Rights: Achieving the Benchmarks Associated With Free, Prior and Informed Consent 26		
	Rights: Stewardship and Governance		

PART 4	APPROACHES TO CULTURE AND RIGHTS IMPACT DETERMINATIONS	28
	Significance Determinations	28
	Thresholds	29
	Technical Thresholds of Manageable Change	29
	Socially Derived Threshold of Acceptable Change	31
	Context Must Be Explicitly Considered	32
PART 5	ASSESSMENT PROCESS MATTERS	34
	Community Led Processes Change Outcomes	34
	Indigenous Knowledge Mobilization	37
	Counting What Counts: Mixed-Method Approaches	38
	Broadening the Focus: Building an Array of Culture Studies	38
	Fundamental Inputs: Counting on Knowledge Holders	39
	Mobilizing Knowledge in Communities and Out on the Land	40
	Methodological Constraints	41
	Cumulative Effects: Insult and Injury	42
	Different Venues: Planning Processes for the Bigger Decisions	43
PART 6	LESSONS LEARNED	44
	What Doesn't Work	44
	What Looks Promising	45
REFERE	NCES	47
APPEND	DICES	
APPEND	DIX A: VALUED COMPONENTS, DEFINITIONS, AND INDICATORS	52
APPEND	DIX B: CONTEXTUAL FACTORS IN MAKING IMPACT DETERMINATIONS	58
APPEND	DIX C: CASE STUDIES	
	Kimberley Land Council – Browse LNG Precinct	60
	Squamish Nation Process – Woodfibre LNG	62
	Drybones Bay and the Upper Thelon	64
	New Prosperity Taseko Mine	67



Executive Summary

THERE IS TREMENDOUS OPPORTUNITY for improvement in the approaches taken to the study of culture and rights in Canadian regulatory and land use planning contexts. While cultural heritage studies and traditional use and occupancy studies may play a strong role in the practice of cultural review for some years to come, there is innovation apparent in the methods and approaches.

Environmental Assessment (EA) practitioners have always embraced change, and welcomed new methods and approaches. The constant reinterpretation of guidance on these issues highlights the flexible approach taken by practitioners in this arena. Innovation in the treatments, methods, and processes for review of culture and rights is perhaps the most challenging and rewarding stretch that practitioners need to embrace.

Innovation is arriving from communities themselves, notably through the Squamish Nation in B.C. and the Kimberly Land Council in Western Australia. The approach to the treatment of rights is fundamentally different, given that the Indigenous party assumed full control of definition of the terms of reference, of the approach taken with respect to culture and rights, and of the mitigation that was assigned. Other approaches that hold promise are broader processes, such as strategic assessments or regional land use plans, particularly when such broader processes employ appropriate methodologies and impact determination approaches. It is vital to understand that these community-engaged processes lead to fundamentally different research and study outcomes. Innovation in the treatments, methods, and processes for review of culture and rights is perhaps the most challenging and rewarding stretch that practitioners need to embrace.

MCFN, PHOTO JENNIFER SCHINE/FIRELIGHT



Studies that line up with Indigenous ways of thinking and organizing will require federal and provincial support to allow the practice of culture and rights review to take new shape. Specific lessons from this research are that research approaches are successful when they:

- Foreground Indigenous views of the land and the meaning of what occurs out on the land, with both qualitative and quantitative approaches;
- Ensure there is community control over the terms, scopes, and methods applied;
- Enliven cultural studies by ensuring Indigenous laws and norms are central to the organizing of the approach;
- Consider the development of thresholds that are tested, reviewed, and understood by communities;
- Bring to the light the views of both men and women in communities; and
- Consistent with the United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples (UNDRIP), employ processes that line up with the principles of free, prior, and informed consent.

Research approaches are successful when they foreground Indigenous views of the land and the meaning of what occurs out on the land, with both qualitative and quantitative approaches.

FRESH TRACKS NEAR LAKE CLAIRE, JENNIFER SCHINE/FIRELIGHT

PART 1

Introduction

ENVIRONMENTAL ASSESSMENT (EA) is a field that is constantly changing and adapting in response to societal pressures to reduce the adverse impacts of projects that are permitted for development, as well as to maximize net benefits. Where the 1970s through to the 1990s was an era in which environmental law and standards emerged and progressed, the early decades of the 2000s is the time in which the standards and law are forming to ensure that Indigenous rights and culture are recognized and protected. Perhaps the most significant change in this regard is the adoption by many countries (including Canada) of the United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples, which calls attention to Indigenous peoples and international law have increased rapidly for consideration of Indigenous rights and associated cultural impacts, process standards and guidance among environmental assessment bodies remain limited.

This research is meant to expose the reader to the art of the possible in cultural and rights assessment, establishing that there are many possible avenues to explore that remain at this time largely excluded or unexplored in formal EA and land use planning processes in the oil sands region of Canada and elsewhere. It is an effort to shine a light on the methods of theorists and practitioners, exploding the myth that cultural heritage and traditional land use studies are the only methodological approaches available to practitioners. The intent is to clearly describe the limits and strengths of existing treatment of culture and rights, the standard method of practice, and explore the applicability of new approaches. The review uncovers different ways impacts have been assessed in the oil sands region and elsewhere in Canada, reviews the ways in which project impacts are assessed in a worldwide context (from academic literature), and highlights the lessons learned from a range of cases.

This work followed a dedicated research path, first examining the literature, thereafter reviewing in detail four case studies of cultural and rights treatments in different EA environments (see Appendix C), and finally closing with detailed expert interviews with EA practitioners who have been at the forefront of culture and rights impact assessment. A range of approaches have come into view, from standard to community based cultural heritage studies, and from studies of the services that culture provides to community designed health studies. This research is not meant to establish primacy of one sort of approach over another. Rather it is meant to establish that there are a range of approaches to the study of culture and rights, and that each of them brings with it a set of benefits and limitations that must be taken into consideration in the context of each specific cultural, project, and assessment forum.

After reviewing the definitions of culture and rights (Part 2), the variety of methods and approaches to the field are reviewed in Part 3. These range from traditional use and occupancy studies to health oriented approaches. In any impact review, the meaning of the change that is anticipated is considered, and in Part 4 the methods and process for these determinations are reviewed. Part 5 reviews the approaches taken in communities that work, and the final section considers the lessons learned.

This research is meant to expose the reader to the art of the possible in cultural and rights assessment.

PART 2

Definitions of Culture and Rights



Culture is comprised, obviously, of much more than the material objects left behind by past generations. It includes the way of life, the system of knowledge, values, beliefs, and behaviour, all of which is passed down between generations.

MIKIDEW CREE, MELODY LEPINE PHOTO

Culture

The study of Indigenous cultures as they relate to project development activities most often – and often exclusively – focuses on the protection of historic artifacts that may be physically damaged through project-specific physical works and activities. The material manifestation of past occupation, associated with features or objects, is generally protected through legislation, and subject to well-defined professional archaeological overview and impact assessment methodologies. This makes this type of study both necessary and comfortable for proponents and assessment bodies.

Culture is comprised, obviously, of much more than the material objects left behind by past generations. It includes the way of life, the system of knowledge, values, beliefs, and behaviour, all of which is passed down between generations. Culture is reflected and embedded in practices, the built and natural environment, and the relationships between people and their natural environment. In one elegant review of culture, meant to expose Australian non-aboriginals to an understanding of how Aboriginal culture is alive and being transmitted to the next generation, Aboriginal culture is described as being comprised of four interconnected aspects: land, family, language, and the story cycle.

Each aspect provides an important component to the make up of Aboriginal men, women and children. Land is central to the Aboriginal introduction protocol and knowledge of your homelands allows Aboriginal people to communicate effectively and freely with others from clan groups around Australia. Family and knowledge about how the extended family works provides parents with greater capacity to support each other and to collectively nurture children through the critical stages of life. Language is much more than a tool to communicate. It strengthens attachment to the land and is central to Aboriginal people knowing who they are. Story cycles keep the Aboriginal culture alive and transports it into the future (Saunders 2017).

Importantly, this description includes the land itself; referring to how the social relations of clans through Australia are connected to each other through the land. Equally importantly, physical archaeology is not the primary focus of this or any Indigenous worldview I have



examined, raising the question of archaeology's appropriateness as a proxy for Indigenous culture. In referring to culture, some of the following elements can be described:

- Communally-held knowledge and ways of knowing;
- Spiritual practices and beliefs;
- Language and its transmission;
- Traditions and out-on-the-land activities (e.g., hunting, harvesting, trapping, fishing, berry picking), including both the activity and teaching that occurs;
- Social relationships and governance;
- · People's sense of place and community; and
- Visual and physical aspects of landscapes that encompass stories, values, or relationships.

For many people, their culture is the foundation of their personal identity, and the values, beliefs, knowledge, skills, symbols, and activities that are built into their culture provides the "glue" for their well-being and connection to other members of their community and culture group.

Rights

When talking about Indigenous rights in this paper, there are two interrelated and sometimes overlapping categories of rights. First, there are the Aboriginal and treaty rights that are enshrined in Section 35 of *The Constitution Act, 1982.* Rights under Treaty 8 are one example of Section 35 rights:

And Her Majesty the Queen hereby agrees with the said Indians that they shall have right to pursue their usual vocations of hunting, trapping and fishing throughout the tract surrendered as heretofore described, subject to such regulations as may from time to time be made by the Government of the country, acting under the authority of Her Majesty, and saving and excepting such tracts as may be required or taken up from time to time for settlement, mining, lumbering, trading or other purposes. [emphasis added]

In one elegant review of culture, meant to expose Australian non-aboriginals to an understanding of how Aboriginal culture is alive and being transmitted to the next generation, Aboriginal culture is described as being comprised of four interconnected aspects: land, family, language, and the story cycle.

AUSTRALIA "TWO SISTERS" PHOTO COURTESY YARUMAN 5/FLICKR COMMONS For Indigenous peoples, treaties codify sacred promises with the Crown. While the most commonly discussed aspects of treaty rights include the right to hunt, trap, and fish, Indigenous peoples and many academics and levels of court eschew this narrow interpretation for an interpretation of rights that includes the ancillary activities that support harvesting *and* broader notions such as Indigenous modes of livelihood and ways of life.¹ Understood in this light, treaty rights include a range of components that inform when, how, where, and why harvesting activities take place, many of which are informed by cultural considerations.

One example of an Indigenous understanding of treaty rights is a recent study on rights and culture involving the Mikisew Cree. In that study, the authors interpreted rights as the right to be out on the land, to hunt, trap and fish, and practice the way of life fully, regardless of where or when they were born, where they currently live, or how they were raised (Candler et al. 2015a) and identified three valued components for treaty rights: way of life, harvesting, and governance and stewardship. These rights were recognized in the signing of the treaty, and do not erode or lessen, are held collectively, and depend on many relationships (including the relationship with land, animals, and water) (Candler et al. 2015a).

The treaties are interpreted broadly by Indigenous people, which is well explained by this Elder:

You cannot begin to understand the treaties unless you understand our cultural and spiritual traditions and our Indian laws. (Elder Jimmy Myo in Cardinal and Hildebrandt 2000, 1)

It is useful to note that the federal government's policy guidance in *Technical Guidance for Assessing the Current Use of Lands and Resources for Traditional Purposes under CEAA, 2012* (Canadian Environmental Assessment Agency 2015) utilizes Section 35 jurisprudence to articulate the meaning of "current use of lands and resources." Since this guidance was issued by CEAA, one review panel has concluded that a proposed New Prosperity project in B.C. would result in significant adverse effects on the Tsilhqot'in to current use of lands and resources for traditional purposes, as well as on cultural heritage. Further, the panel found there would be significant adverse impact to the practice of rights, and for these and other determinations, the panel suggested the rejection of the proposed project.

The second category of rights, which again overlaps with and is connected to Section 35 rights, includes rights described in the United Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples. The most commonly referred to right under UNDRIP is the right to participate in decisions that are made about development in Indigenous lands (Article 18, United Nations 2008), and the right to maintain and enact norms, laws, and responsibilities. Other notable rights in the UN Declaration include: Article 19 (States shall consult and cooperate in good faith with the Indigenous peoples concerned through their own representative institutions in order to obtain their free, prior and informed consent before adopting and implementing legislative or administrative measures that may affect them); Article 23 (Indigenous peoples have the right to determine and develop priorities and strategies for exercising their right to development); and Article 32 (Indigenous peoples have the right to determine and develop priorities and strategies for the development or use of their lands or territories and other resources). In Australia, the rights context is distinct from Canada, and less focused on establishment of the basket of harvesting and occupancy rights than is found in Canada.



study, the authors interpreted rights as the right to be out on the land, to hunt, trap and fish, and practice the way of life fully, regardless of where or when they were born, where they currently live, or how they were raised.

STEWARDS OF THE DELTA, CRAIG CANDLER/FIRELIGHT

See R. v. Badger (1996), 133 D.L.R. (4th) 324 Cory J; R. v. Horseman [1990] 1 S.C.R. 901; West Moberly First Nations v. British Columbia (Chief Inspector of Mines) 2011 BCCA 247.

PART 3

Selecting Methods and Indicators, and Designing Valued Components for Assessing Impacts to Culture and Rights

WE SEE A BROAD SCOPE OF APPROACHES – in the literature and employed in practice – available for the review and description of culture, heritage, and rights reviews. Each approach depends on particular valued components and indicators, displays data differently, and has some limits with respect to how culture and rights are described and analyzed. When selecting a method or approach, the guidance generally is that there be clear and precise definitions for a range of valued components (Hernandez-Morcillo et al. 2013), that there be an opportunity for culture holders to identify their view of the appropriate valued components (MVRB 2012; Satterfield et al. 2013), and that there be a deeply engaged community based process that allows for community deliberation (Satterfield et al. 2013). This may take time, and an extensive focus on both the scope and the appropriate scale for analysis (Satterfield et al. 2013). A mix of methods (both qualitative and quantitative), and coverage of an array of culture and rights concepts, tends to increase the depth of understanding of concepts. Appendix A includes a summary of the types of valued components, and the indicators that are used to define them.

Cultural Heritage Approaches: Going Beyond Archaeology

Typical EA approaches, primarily physical cultural heritage reviews, study the physical manifestations of culture and objects, items, and ceremonies associated with sites and objects (Bannister and Nicholas 2015), and the meaning associated with those sites and objects (Dyanna Jolly Consulting 2007a). These studies are the bread and butter to the cultural impact field, and tend to identify and protect material culture of past or present occupation, including historic sites, gravesites, middens (rock caches), rock and cave paintings, and scatterings of stone tools (King 2000; O'Faircheallaigh 2008). The search in these studies is for physical signs of past occupation and cultural activity on the ground, relying on site visits planned and coordinated by trained archaeologists. The initiative for physical cultural heritage work lies with guidance and legislation that protects these physical manifestations of past activity on the land, and CEAA has clearly identified an approach for review, study, and protection of physical cultural heritage (CEAA 1996).



Typical EA approaches study the physical manifestations of culture and objects, items, and ceremonies associated with sites and objects. These studies are the bread and butter to the cultural impact field.

VERS L'EMBOUCHURE DE LA RIVIERE ATHABASKA, A PARTIR DU CAMP, UNDATED Indigenous people often feel marginalized from their own history by the technocratic approach to assessment, the lack of prior consultation and engagement in work teams, and inappropriate mitigation measures that includes removing physical artifacts and even human remains from areas.

The focus for archaeological indicators tends to be the number and range of physical sites in an area, their cultural and social context, and the practices associated with the site. In one New Zealand study, the following meanings were associated with identified sites: archaeological finds, battle sites, resting sites, customary gathering of food and natural materials, campsites, canoe-landing sites, stories that are part of the history of the land, and place names (Dyanna Jolly Consulting 2007a).

Increasingly, Indigenous communities have attempted to assert control over the terms, practice, and interpretation of physical cultural heritage studies. It is common to have greater community engagement and Elder guidance to set the terms of a review, ongoing engagement of knowledge holders in site reviews, and community participation in the interpretation of the meaning and context for sites. The struggle for control over the terms and practice of physical cultural heritage studies was apparent in the New Prosperity mine review in northern B.C., with the proponent completing an archaeological study, which the Indigenous communities refused to participate in. Instead, the Tsilhqot'in Nation commissioned its own study, prepared by expert archaeologists under the direction of Xeni Gwet'in Elders. The study sites that were selected for field walks were identified through oral history and Elders' knowledge of specific historic burial and cremation sites, and these were then confirmed and understanding deepened through archaeological field visits (Review Panel 2013, 184). This nation-controlled study approach led to cultural heritage finds not identified through the company's own work (Review Panel 2013). Many nations have developed their own culture and heritage impact assessment guidelines, with requirements on stop work orders, funding, and other key matters.

This trend of Indigenous control and engagement is also playing out in Australia, notably in the case of the voluntary siting of a liquid natural gas (LNG) facility. In that case, the archaeological review involved consultation with the title claimants and the regional Indigenous authority about survey requirements and priority areas. The cultural heritage team then walked site transects, and conducted intensive drilling programs. Members of the Native Title group were involved in all aspects of the survey and site recording, and as they did this work they shared stories and anecdotes on the bush and marine foods found in association with the archaeological materials (KLC 2010d).

These community driven approaches disrupt the conventional practice of expert archaeologist control over site review and interpretation, leading to greater precision and rigour in ground surveys, greater control over findings and recommended protection measures, deeper understanding of the context and meaning of the sites, and greater empowerment and knowledge collection and transmission for affected Indigenous peoples.

In some places or communities, there is a very thin ethnographic and archaeological record, both in the depth of ethnography previously completed and in the presence of material culture. This can be due to physical or colonial interruptions. Certainly previous disturbances by natural phenomena, such as flooding, glacial activity, or human disturbances can erase

The focus for archaeological indicators tends to be the number and range of physical sites in an area, their cultural and social context, and the practices associated with the site.



In one New Zealand study, the following meanings were associated with identified sites: archaeological finds, battle sites, resting sites, customary gathering of food and natural materials, campsites, canoe-landing sites, stories that are part of the history of the land, and place names.

YUKON ARCHAEOLOGICAL SITE COURTESY OF YUKON GOVERNMENT past cultural heritage records. The "violent interruption to culture of colonization" (Satterfield, personal communication, February 24, 2017) is another force of material culture erasure, in which Indigenous peoples have been forced off of the land, leaving scant record behind. In addition, many Indigenous cultures leave limited footprints on the land. For migratory peoples, for example, there may be little in the way of an archaeological record of harvesting sites spread across a vast landscape; this should not be read (but often is) as lack of use of these cultural landscapes. For this reason, absence of physical data should not be taken to mean absence of meaning or use. This is clear from the decisions the Mackenzie Valley Environmental Impact Review Board made through a series of uranium exploration plays in the NWT (see text box).

Project Size is Not a Proxy for Cultural Impact

The size of a project is not a direct proxy for its cultural impact potential. As the Mackenzie Valley Review Board made clear in two cases, the Screech Lake Uranium Exploration Project and New Shoshoni Diamond Exploration, "although the proposed development is physically small, the potential cultural impacts are not" (MVRB 2007a, 1). The New Shoshoni EA decision distinguished clearly between physical heritage impacts and other cultural impacts and also recognized that while it may not always be possible to quantify cultural "footprint impacts" in the same way as it is for physical resources, this does not lessen their importance (MVRB 2004). The Report of Environmental Assessment identified impact pathways and potential ultimate outcomes of impacts on culture as:

- Reduction of the value of a place in the hearts and minds of the culture group;
- Reduced inability to know and teach about a place between generations;
- Reduced connection to the cultural landscape reducing cultural continuity overall;
- Loss of a place of refuge from the "modern" world; an area where what is today (but was not generally in 2005) called "quiet enjoyment of the land", is still possible;
- Disrespect of ancestors, as a valid impact pathway, and an abrogation of responsibility by the culture holders as well as the Crown; and
- Increased access to a critical cultural area contributing to culture holder alienation. (MVRB 2004, 40–62)

Absence of physical data should not be taken to mean absence of meaning or use.



THELON RIVER PHOTO COURTSY SEBASTIAN KASTEN/ WIKIMEDIA COMMONS

Traditional Land Use Studies

A more recent twist to cultural heritage studies is the now well-established field of traditional land use studies. Traditional use, occupancy, and traditional knowledge studies took strong root in the late 1990s in Canada. One of the principal authors in this field asserts that:

Land use and occupancy mapping is about documenting those aspects of the individual's experience that can be shown on a map. It is about telling the story of a person's life on the land. Over time individual experience becomes part of the collective oral tradition, a story of much grander proportions. In this respect, use and occupancy mapping is a means to help record a nation's oral history. (Tobias 2000, 1)

The impulse for traditional use and occupancy studies has been reinforced with recent Canadian federal policy guidance and legislation (CEAA 2015). Traditional knowledge and use studies (TUS) are the prevalent Indigenous counter-mapping method used by Indigenous communities and organizations in Canada (Usher 2003; Tobias 2000; Tobias 2009).

Mapping studies provide the modern physical mapped evidence around which project impacts are assessed. The effort in these studies is to quantify and qualitatively describe cultural and spiritual, environmental, habitation, subsistence, and transportation values of an Indigenous group. The knowledge accessed in traditional knowledge work for TUS studies is often marked through place names, in stories and songs, and through artwork. It is often the number of values (e.g., the number of trapping lines or the number of animals harvested in that area) that is then taken to establish the meaning of an area. The associated qualitative descriptions also provide context, and the range of values that are described can cover many aspects of culture. Maps have become useful tools to identify and visualize Indigenous socio-spatial relationships, and along with narrative descriptions, they depict the relationships required to allow for a particular activity to occur, or the context, meaning, and intent behind an activity. It is often the case in these studies that readers assign a weighting to the number of occurrences of a particular activity, so that areas with a great number of activities seem more important.

What can be missed, though, in the visual displays is the potential for one site, used or described by as few as one person, to have great meaning for the full nation. A single teaching site by a gifted and knowledgeable teacher may be one of the most important places to take care of. This meaning might not come through with a map that shows only one cultural value. This limit was made clear in a regional assessment of the Great Sand Hills in Saskatchewan, in which it was noted that landscapes are significant for many reasons and meaning should not be set through use and occupancy alone.

The advisory group of First Nations made it clear to the assessment team and to government that current use and occupancy is not a sufficient indication of the significance of a landscape to Aboriginal communities. In the Great Sands Hills the land had not been used for traditional purposes for generations, yet it remains of significant cultural and spiritual value. (Noble 2016, 24).

VALUED COMPONENTS FOR TUS STUDIES

Mapping studies provide the modern physical mapped evidence around which project impacts are assessed. The effort in these studies is to quantify and qualitatively describe cultural and spiritual, environmental, habitation, subsistence, and transportation values of an Indigenous group.



Traditional land use studies appear in Indigenous controlled EA, with clear limitations. The Squamish Nation Process, in their own EA parallel review of the proposed Woodfibre LNG plant, asserted that traditional use itself should not be a fixed concept, but could be dynamic based on availability and need of resources and people.

The most important message of the TUOS is often that Squamish members rely, and have always relied upon, the territory in its entirety. For example, use and occupancy of a project area and the surrounding lands and waters requires freedom of movement and intact natural resources. Specific use of the land will shift based on what is available and what is needed; the natural environment is dynamic and so too is the human reliance on it. Therefore, avoiding a specific site does not necessarily mean that the use is not impacted on. (Bruce and Hume 2015, 11)

The traditional land use study model has gained traction with the federal government, serving as a basis for the rejection or modification (especially siting and routing) of project proposals, most recently with the proposed New Prosperity mine. In that case, the most critical evidence of current use of lands and resources were areas for ceremonial and spiritual practices, cultural heritage as archaeological sites, and burial and cremation sites — all of which would be covered by tailings during mine operation. Even though the proponent promised to maintain access for these purposes, this alternative was rejected by the affected nations due to fear of contamination and loss of connection to a culturally significant place. The Review Panel accepted that the proposed mine would reduce the area for practice of rights, disturb burial and cremation sites, and endanger their ability to sustain their way of life, and recommended rejection of the proposed project.

Conversely, in one recent case in the oil sands, decision makers made the recommendation for a project to proceed even where a Joint Review Panel found cumulative effects on current use of lands and resources and multiple First Nation led traditional use studies also found significant adverse effects on the current use values assessed in those studies (see the Shell Jackpine Mine Expansion Review Panel decision in 2013). The advisory group of First Nations made it clear to the assessment team and to government that current use and occupancy is not a sufficient indication of the significance of a landscape to Aboriginal communities. In the Great Sands Hills the land had not been used for traditional purposes for generations, vet it remains of significant cultural and spiritual value.

GREAT SAND HILLS, SASKATCHEWAN PHOTO COURTESY WAYNE STADLER/ FLICKR COMMONS



Government and industry tend to weigh current use highly to exclusively, when Indigenous peoples want to see decisions based on more complex understanding of culture, relying on past, present, and desired future use and non-use values of an area.

Limitations have been clearly identified with cultural heritage and traditional use studies. Both approaches rely on physical evidence in a specific location, evidence on the land or from memory of a harvester or knowledge holder, as embodied in a map. Areas that have no such evidence, or areas that are not spoken of at all to outsiders due to cultural taboos, may never register through these two methodological approaches. They are perceived by some as driving an industry focused on site-specific data and inventories at the expense of establishing a true cultural context (McIlwraith and Cormier 2015). Used as the single source of evidence, they can eliminate or minimize the voice of the Elders; "words and stories themselves provide essential context for the uses of specific sites" (McIlwraith and Cormier 2015).

Furthermore, they allow a particular set of activities to occur. Where there are no cultural heritage finds, or no polygons on the map, the state and proponent assumption is often that there is no cultural meaning to these places. They may instead be sites of avoidance, or they may be areas that are vital for the support of particular activities (e.g., critical watersheds). By depicting them as empty or by not eliciting a story, the mapper unconsciously frees the space up for development or alternative uses, often determined through state defined processes.

The focus on maps can engage the broader ethnographic contexts of history and culture, and there are emerging Indigenous defined approaches to mapping that foreground the deeper meanings of spaces and places (Olson et al. 2016). Studies that experiment with direct to digital mapping show some promise, in that they allow harvesters to be more immersed in the location through viewing the areas, connecting them more to the experience

Government and industry tend to weigh current use highly to exclusively, when Indigenous peoples want to see decisions based on more complex understanding of culture, relying on past, present, and desired future use and non-use values of an area.

MCFN, PHOTO CRAIG CANDLER/FIRELIGHT of being there that is vital to discussion of the meaning of the place. There is change in the field notable in the attention paid to "sense of place" (see text box). This concept was explored in a Gitxaala review of the effect of tanker traffic of the connection to territory and the experience of being out on land or water (Calliou Group 2014, 43).

YESAB White River Quartz Exploration: Sense of Place Summary

Proposed in 2012, Tarsis Resources Ltd. sought to initiate a seasonal, Class 3 quartz exploration program near Beaver Creek, Yukon. The project would span five years and result in approximately 100 drill holes near the White and Koidern rivers.

Unusual to current assessment practice, "sense of place" was used as a discrete category within the terms of reference (ToR) set by the Yukon Environmental and Socio-economic Assessment Board (YESAB) and used as an impact indicator for effects. Referring to a person's relationship to a landscape that is built on knowledge, history, emotion, and identity, "sense

of place" can be experienced individually or collectively. Interconnected to the valued components (VCs) of wildlife and wildlife habitat and traditional use and culture, effects to "sense of place" were characterized by examining both quantitative and qualitative data focusing on changes to land, resources, and use patterns based on cultural importance (HJDO 2012, 57). YESAB suggested that the "sense of place"

associated with an area independent from the level or type of use may provide a more accurate determination of the significance of effects (HJDO 2012, 63).

In the end, YESAB recommended rejection of the project on the grounds of significant adverse effects (that cannot be mitigated) to wildlife and wildlife habitat and First Nation traditional land use and culture (HJDO 2012, 2). In particular, helicopter disturbance alongside on-site activities including drilling and all-terrain vehicle use, would impact hunting and gathering activities in the project area which overlaps a culturally sensitive area of the White River First Nation (WRFN). The Director of Mineral Resources rejected the Evaluation Report and concluded that effects could be mitigated, after which the WRFN sought judicial review. The Yukon Supreme Court determined that the Director had breached the duty to consult and accommodate, quashed the Director Decision Statement and required consultation with WRFN. The government chose not to issue the exploratory permit in the subsequent consultation that took place per court order.

The Yukon Environmental and Socio-economic Assessment Board (YESAB) suggested that the "sense of place" associated with an area independent from the level or type of use may provide a more accurate determination of the significance of effects.



WHITE RIVER, YUKON PHOTO COURTESY TIM VO/FLICKR COMMONS

Ecosystem and Cultural Services: Quantifying and Displaying Social and Cultural Values

Ecosystem or cultural services research identifies the range of services and benefits an area provides, and the weighting of these services is then used to identify environmental management options. The highest rated services can, for example, be targeted for protection. As long as all cultural services are well articulated by culture holders, this approach allows them to identify areas in their cultural landscape that they value for different and particular uses, treatments, stories, activities, teachings, and meanings. In the case where a culture holder is not able to tell a story or reveal information that should be private and not be transmitted without attention to ceremony and relationship, this numerical rating approach would allow the culture holder to relay the importance of the area without revealing the context of the site.

VALUED COMPONENTS FOR CULTURAL SERVICES

The cultural services that tend to be identified from landscapes include spiritual and religious, recreation and ecotourism, aesthetic, inspirational, sense of place, cultural heritage, and educational. Cultural services approaches require understanding the different values held for a particular area - a process known as values elicitation - and subsequent mapping of these values and their abundance and type across a landscape. The method responds to a call for "methods for quantifying the spatial distribution of social values as a basis for integration with environmental and economic data to target the management of ecosystem services" (Bryan et al. 2010, 111). The approach has been used in Australia to identify natural capital and ecosystem services provided in a water basin, in order to identify management priorities. It shows the promise of being able to identify abundant, diverse, rare, and at risk values for focal areas, allowing decision makers to prioritize areas based on their priorities (i.e., based on whether they are trying to protect rare values or promote areas of abundant values). In the Australian review, the decision makers used the mapped displays of social values to prioritize particular areas for protection, while the summary of interview data provided the recommendations of how to protect and enhance these social values. While this approach hasn't been tested in EA specifically, it has been piloted to identify the complete range of cultural ecosystem services for people living in a particular region in Germany (Plieninger et al. 2013), explicitly mapping the cultural ecosystem services citizens feel they participate in (through their landscape).

The cultural services that tend to be identified from landscapes include spiritual and religious, recreation and ecotourism, aesthetic, inspirational, sense of place, cultural heritage, and educational (Hernandez-Morcillo et al. 2013). The approach involves citizens in identifying the full suite of values, then classifying their preferences. For example, how the land serves as an inspiration for art, folklore, symbols and architecture (Hernandez-Morcillo et al. 2013) might be mapped or identified. At the same time, the researcher might identify how the land is special or unique, and what qualities cause and contribute to cultural attachment and belonging (Hernandez-Morcillo et al. 2013).

If this type of approach were used in EA, the types of cultural health indicators that are emerging in the Indigenous health indicators (IHI) field (described below) might serve as a useful starting point.

Cultural Landscapes Delineation: Relationships of People and the Land

Where traditional land use studies consider the sites specifically in a region, the cultural landscape approach considers cultural heritage, the travel routes and spaces between them (Ehrlich 2012), the relationships between sites, and the spiritual and cultural associations that people hold with the land, often over a much larger area. This approach considers "landscapes that are lived in" and it brings attention "to the way people within the landscape live, their traditions and everyday life" (NWT Cultural Places Program 2007). Cultural landscape research incorporates individual sites of heritage resources into a broader network of stories and collective memory, which necessarily invokes the social relationships that communities have to each other, the animals, and the land.

Stories are the backbone of this type of work, showing how the landscape is marked with historical activity from the earliest Indigenous foundation stories through to the present. The land is a history book, as described by John B. Zoe, senior advisor to the Tł_tcho Government:

In the Tłįcho world, we did not have a written language but we had an oral history that was documented on the lands. A past event has a marker in the form of a place name that describes the event of the time. We know from oral history and the places names that the Tłįcho Agreement is not the only agreement that we have had. It is an extension of earlier agreements. From the place names and from what we are told and shown by the Elders, one of the first agreements that we had was with the animals that we rely on in order to coexist. To neutralize our passing on those lands we make offerings to the land so that those animals will continue to sustain us in that environment to which we are accustomed. We rely on these principles to make our case for environmental assessments; we have the responsibility to protect the environment and to ensure that the animals are protected to sustain their continuance. It is those principles that we use in a modern world. (Zoe in Gibson et al. 2014)

The cultural landscape concept was recognized in an environmental assessment process in the NWT in which a variety of mineral exploration programs were either turned down, or the proponent withdrew, due primarily to consideration of impacts of exploration on cultural heritage and cultural landscapes. The Mackenzie Valley Environmental Impact Review Board deemed in 2007 there was critical cultural evidence of the value of all of the Upper Thelon region—not one specific site—all of which needed to be considered as a singular cultural landscape and throughout all of which, industrial development was irreconcilable.

In Australia, the Traditional Owners in the Kimberly approved the siting of an LNG precinct, with a series of mitigation measures for protection after carefully characterizing their culture-scapes, and choosing to site the facility in the least culturally damaging location. The "Indigenous cultural landscapes" and "Indigenous cultural seascapes" — termed Indigenous culture-scapes — were identified through ethnography, discussion of how sites came to be culturally significant or their origin (known as the dreaming), review of cultural heritage sites and particular practices associated with women and men (differentiated on age, gender, and status). The study showed how sites are connected to each other over land and sea, and

CULTURAL LANDSCAPE INDICATORS

- Individual sites;
- Stories and where they occur in the landscape;
- Travel routes and the spaces between; and
- Relationships people have to the land, both spiritual and cultural.

formed by particular ancestral sacred beings, and described how sites in the region were made. The study also reviewed and described legal traditions that are inscribed in the land, and continue to be practiced by the Traditional Owners. "The Law is a critical component of the overall culture-scape of the HIA Area" (KLC 2010c, 91).

Indigenous Health Indicators: Giving Form to Indigenous Values

Community based cultural research tends to focus on the criteria, stories, and indicators deemed most relevant to cultural health and maintenance by the culture holders themselves (Gibson et al. 2011). Research approaches with a focus on Indigenous expressions of health have the benefit of linking data collected to goal statements or thresholds of acceptable change that can assist in the determination of whether new and additional impacts from projects will be significant. As an example, the community defined criteria of cultural preservation in the Tł₂cho region set a range of goal statements about active participation in cultural activity (See Figure 1).



The Indigenous health indicators process is founded on Indigenous knowledge, but combines Indigenous and non-indigenous knowledge methods in data collection and analysis (Donatuto et al. 2016). When communities identify what makes them healthy, they focus less on disease and pathologies, and more on the interrelationship of social, cultural, environmental, and health factors. This approach has the benefit of including developing health indicators that are reflective of non-physical definitions of health, allowing the intangibles to be included in decision making in contexts where they would otherwise be omitted (Donatuto et al. 2016).



The approach generally involves using open-ended interviews to identify core meanings of health, and cross-referencing coded data with ethnography. In one case, the resulting core values identified were community cohesion, food security, ceremonial use and education and — following community validation — another two indicators of community connection and natural resources security were added (Donatuto et al. 2016). A subsequent step involves developing descriptive scales to rate and rank the health-based concerns. This model of research has been used to:

- Demonstrate damages to cultural sites in Métis communities in Canada (McDaniels and Trousdale 2005); and
- Identify the complex of cultural and health outcomes associated with seafood contamination (Donatuto et al. 2011).

This community health approach emphasizes the connections between indicators, allows for community participation and identification of what matters as well as what matters most. The approach allows for precise and locally defined cultural values to be identified, such as in a New Zealand based study in which the following site specific cultural values were identified with a river: spiritual associations, cultural values associated with freshwater, life-supporting capacity of water, the connectivity of the river to other regions, the customary gathering of food and natural materials, and responsibilities associated with holding customary authority over an area (Dyanna Jolly Consulting 2007b).

Still relatively untested in the environmental assessment process, community health approaches could allow structured consideration of what matters most to a community, and then rating and ranking of project effects on the community identified priorities.

INDIGENOUS HEALTH INDICATORS

In one case, the resulting core values identified were community cohesion, food security, ceremonial use and education and following community validation — another two indicators of community connection and natural resources security were added.

Keystone Species and Places: Rating Profundity



KEYSTONE PLACES INDICATORS

- Agreement within cultural group;
- Occurrence in language and discourse;
- Intensity and frequency of use;
- Diversity of use and antiquity of use;
- Extent of traditional management;
- Uniqueness;
- Role in trade and cultural exchange; and
- Role in cultural protocols.

TEZTAN BINY (FISH LAKE) AND SURROUNDING AREA IMAGE VIA GOOGLE EARTH Cultural keystone species are those with which a nation has a strong relationship: "culturally salient species that shape in a major way the cultural identity of a people, as reflected in the fundamental roles these species have in diet, materials, medicine and/or spiritual practice (Garibaldi and Turner 2004, 1).

While the term "keystone" has only gained precision and salience in the last decade, the strong relationship that Indigenous communities hold to a particular species, or indeed a range of animals, is a central focus in anthropology. Legat et al. (2008) write of the Tłįcho laws governing human behaviour with caribou populations and migration patterns, identifying Tłįcho indicators of change, specifically those resulting from following or dismissing laws that govern human behavior with animals (Legat et al. 2008, 2). Legat's work finds that harvester lack of knowledge "can lead to a decline in caribou population, changes to caribou distribution, and a dysfunctional society" (Ibid., 2). These studies have the potential to show the complex relationship between Indigenous communities and ecology and animals, showing that loss or impacts on the animals may be as drastic to the human communities that depend on them (Garibaldi and Turner 2004).

This approach has been tested in environmental assessment, most recently in a study for the Tsilhqot'in by Turner (2013) in which lakes and the surrounding area were identified as "cultural keystone places." The proposed site for the New Prosperity mine was shown to hold "high cultural salience for one or more groups of people and (it) plays, or has played in the past, an exceptional role in a people's cultural identity, as reflected in their day to day living, food production and other resource-based activities, land and resource management, language, stories, and social and ceremonial practices" (Turner 2013, 3). The meaning of the proposed project site was identified through review of the history of the place (based on archaeology, oral history, and memory), and thereafter the relative importance of a given place was further assessed using a numerical rating scale (e.g., 5 - very high, to 0 - low or not important). Turner's work has elicited a set of variables to be considered in identifying a cultural keystone species (Garibaldi and Turner 2004), which were adapted and utilized in the cultural keystone places approach. They include:

- Agreement within cultural group;
- Occurrence in language and discourse;
- Intensity and frequency of use;
- Diversity of use and antiquity of use;
- Extent of traditional management;
- Uniqueness;
- Role in trade and cultural exchange; and
- Role in cultural protocols (Turner 2013, 4).

Following this review, Turner concluded that Teztan Biny (Fish Lake), Y'anah Biny (Little Fish Lake) and Nabas (the meadows surrounding) collectively meet all the criteria, and constitute cultural keystone places. The Review Panel accepted this conclusion, and this study along with others, proved fundamental in the decision to reject the proposed New Prosperity mine.

The Mikisew Cree has similarly focused research efforts on cultural keystone species, identifying the importance of bison to the nation, the seasonal habitat and hunting areas, and the conditions required for the hunt (Candler et al. 2015a). Bison is a keystone cultural species, with the skulls being used in sweat lodges, and as an altar (and in many ceremonies in many households). The Cree language has many words and phrases that refer to the animal as whole, the meaning the animal holds, and the bush way of life that these people continue. The Ronald Lake herd itself is the only herd accessible to the Mikisew, and they have themselves reduced frequency of harvest to preserve the herd.



Social Impact Assessment

The social impact assessment field often connects to and touches on cultural aspects, including the social relationships of kin and cultural practices — specifically the interconnectedness of the communities with each other — through Indigenous law. In one analysis of social impact, the cultural requirement of collective ceremonial management and relationships was reviewed, and set out as a basis for why the entire region negotiated collectively (KLC 2010a).

Socio-economic impact assessment guidelines (SEIA) have emerged from many sources (Vanclay et al. 2015; MRVB 2007b), and they include some reference to cultural impacts and their assessment. However, they do not provide enough detail on the types of cultural impacts, the methods used, and the principles applied for conducting effective assessment on Indigenous culture. Discussion of culture in SEIA guidelines has been revisited and expanded in cultural impact assessment guidelines (MVRB 2012).



Bison is a keystone cultural species, with the skulls being used in sweat lodges, and as an altar (and in many ceremonies in many households).

ABOVE PHOTO COURTESY BRYANT OLSEN/ FLICKR COMMONS

PHOTO LEFT COURTESY JACK DYKINGA/ WIKIMEDIA COMMONS

Principles for Assessing Impacts to Treaty 8 Rights

Canadian courts have articulated a number of principles for determining impacts to Indigenous rights. A non-exhaustive list of such legal principles includes:

- The determination of impacts must be guided by a generous, purposive approach because "actions affecting unproven Aboriginal title or rights or treaty rights can have irreversible effects that are not in keeping with the honour of the Crown": Rio Tinto Alcan Inc. v. Carrier Sekani Tribal Council, 2010 SCC 43 at para 43;
- The assessment of whether a decision or action may impact a treaty right must be approached in a manner that maintains the integrity of the Crown because the honour of the Crown is always at stake in its dealing with Aboriginal peoples: R. v. Badger, [1996]1 S.C.R. 771, at par. 41;
- When considering impacts to treaty rights, the term "environment" must be construed broadly and include the cumulative impacts of a project and other facilities to be developed in the future on those rights: Dene Tha' First Nation v. MOE et al., 2006 FC 1354, at par. 34;
- When considering impacts to treaty rights, the historical context of developments must be taken into account: West Moberly First Nations v. British Columbia (Chief Inspector of Mines), 2011 BCCA 247 at para 83 and 117, leave to appeal denied 2012 CanLII 8361 (SCC);
- When considering impacts to treaty rights, the injurious affection that a project causes on the exercise of treaty rights in the broader landscape must be considered: Mikisew Cree First Nation v. Canada (Minister of Canadian Heritage), 2005 SCC 69, at par. 15, 44, and 47;
- When considering impacts to treaty rights, the potential negative derivative impacts of a project must also be taken into account: Taku River Tlingit First Nation v. British Columbia (Project Assessment Director), 2004 SCC 74, [2004] 3 S.C.R. 550, at par. 32;
- When considering impacts to treaty rights, the assessment should not be limited to only impacts that are physical in nature: Haida Nation v. British Columbia (Minister of Forests), 2004 SCC 73 at par. 72-73; and
- Courts have rejected the argument that the rights of a First Nation are not directly and adversely affected if they can "go elsewhere" to harvest: Mikisew at par 47-48.

Rights: Sufficiency of Resources

The sufficiency of resources is a "rights-based" approach. It involves identifying the enabling factors required in order for rights based practice to occur on the land or waters. In the past, proponents used access restrictions and the presence of wildlife in the area as proxies for the practice of rights.

It is not simply the presence (or absence) of the animals that are harvested that constitute rights. Sufficiency is related to the ability to continue patterns of activities, practice Indigenous laws, spend time in important places (while enjoying peace and quiet of them), and the ability to access these places without difficulty or extreme cost.

Work is emerging on the components of a traditional diet, and on both food security and sovereignty (Candler et al. 2015a; Satterfield et al. 2017). In these approaches, the historical baseline of food volume and historical intake are modeled, subject to limitations. Data for dietary preferences is itemized based on past oral and archaeological record, with a focus on identifying the total list of potential foods, which is then narrowed based on what continues to be available. Canada's Food Guide is then used to estimate caloric need and diet composition. With this baseline established, the research can identify how a particular set of changes, such as climate change or a proposed project, might impact on the baseline (Satterfield et al. 2017). These approaches recognize that focus on diet, without the attendant context, is a reduction that is not acceptable in Indigenous culture. Satterfield writes, "food is knowledge and knowledge is food" (2017, 19), and thereafter describes the vital role food plays in sharing, collecting, gathering, canning, and eating, and in pot-latching and feasting: "foods central to these are the material currency of enduring social relationships" (Satterfield et al. 2017, 20).

The Mikisew Cree have identified harvesting as one of the components in a culture and rights review (Candler et al. 2015a), and identify both quality and quantity of the culturally significant foods, with a long list of dietary resources generated (e.g., moose, caribou, hare, beaver, ducks, swans, grouse, whitefish, walleye, grayling, crowberry, and cranberries, among others). Thereafter, the authors generated diet estimates in focus groups, then verified these by reference to archival materials. Thereafter, the effect a proposed project (Teck Resources) was predicted to have adverse impact on the potential for Mikisew to continue harvesting.

Rights: Way of Life

The Mikisew have developed a way of life research approach and associated threshold. It involves the right for current and future generations to practice and transmit their language, culture, identity and sense of place to future Mikisew generations, consistent with pre-1965 conditions. In one study, the Mikisew reviewed the effect a particular project would have on way of life, expressed in the Cree term *sakaw pimacihiwin*. After review of the meaning of each indicator to the Mikisew, a constructed scale was developed to identify the perception of impact on some of the indicators, while the impact was described for others (Candler et al. 2015), and ultimately a severe impact on the households practicing way of life closest



SUFFICIENCY OF RESOURCES INDICATORS

Sufficiency is related to the ability to continue patterns of activities, practice Indigenous laws, spend time in important places (while enjoying peace and quiet of them), and the ability to access these places without difficulty or extreme cost.

TRADITIONAL FOODS, PHOTO CRAIG CHANDLER to the project was predicted. This impact would also flow outwards to individuals and households resulting in erosion of way of life.

Way of life has also been reviewed in the Squamish Nation Process (Bruce and Hume 2015). Rights played a central role in the environmental assessment review process, as it was set as the primary valued component. An interconnected model was used to examine rights, with a focus on how the community felt the project was going to affect their way of life (Bruce, personal communication, February 17, 2017).

Rights: Achieving the Benchmarks Associated With Free, Prior and Informed Consent

Increasingly, one of the Indigenous rights being conceptualized is the right to participate in determinations of project developments that will occur in Indigenous lands, or free, prior,



and informed consent (FPIC), and in definition of research processes that occur in Indigenous lands.

In the Kimberly Land Council case, the research tested 'whether the Traditional Owners have given informed consent, in a culturally appropriate manner' to the establishment of an LNG precinct in the Kimberley region. The KLC authors reviewed processes over a period of time from 2007 to 2010 in the siting decision and strategic assessment, including the role in site selection, the process leading to the signing of an agreement (including design of key principles, and financial terms), the participation in identifying a specific site, the consultation in the strategic assessment, and other processes that were ongoing (such as the negotiation of Indigenous land use agreements), after developing thresholds for achieving consent (O'Faircheallaigh 2013).

In the Kimberly Land Council case, the research tested 'whether the Traditional Owners have given informed consent, in a culturally appropriate manner' to the establishment of an LNG precinct in the Kimberley region.

KIMBERLEY AUSTRALIA PHOTO TYSONA/FLICKR These thresholds were:

- Sufficient time to consider the decision;
- Adequate resources for mobilization and consideration;
- Consent being offered consistent with and through mobilizing Aboriginal law; and
- Consent offered without political pressure or duress.

The KLC report found sufficient resources were applied to the consent process, and therefore that the site selection partially embodied the principle of FPIC. However FPIC was threatened by a compulsory acquisition threat (in the absence of agreement), time constraints, the threat of loss of state funding (in the event of no agreement), and weak baseline information. Further external processes (of Indigenous land use agreements) also threatened the ability to shape the development of the LNG precinct.

WAY OF LIFE

The Mikisew have developed a way of life research approach and associated threshold. It involves the right for current and future generations.

Rights as a Primary Valued Component

The Squamish Nation perspective identified rights as the primary valued component, and other guiding topics were determined through community input. The nation emphasized that the impacts on one component "usually means an impact on the whole of the valued component because of the interconnectedness" (Bruce and Hume 2015, 12). Other guiding topics that emerged were:

- Impacts to lands in which Squamish has formal governance and/or defined management objectives;
- Impacts to regional use and occupancy;
- Impacts to transmission of culture and history; and
- Impacts to the growth and revitalization of the Squamish language (Bruce and Hume 2015, 11).

Rights: Stewardship and Governance

Recently, a number of Canadian Indigenous nations have developed 'laws and norms' approaches, in which projects are tested against whether they detract from the ability to adhere to Indigenous laws. Indicator types continue to vary in this loosely defined area, including:

- Laws and norms and their continued application;
- Rights to trap, hunt and fish, and collect roots and berries;
- Adherence to natural laws (e.g., no artificial control over hydraulic systems); and
- Rights in traditional lands, including the ability to access virtually all of their land base (McCormack 2013), as well as the likelihood that rights can be practiced in perpetuity, as documented in treaty.

Governance is reviewed in research studies, namely the ability to maintain stewardship responsibilities and governance principles (Candler et al. 2015a). For example, key stewardship responsibilities involve distributing resources broadly, regulating access to the core territories, maintaining family hunting territories, and respecting animals.



FPIC INDICATORS

- Sufficient time to consider the decision;
- Adequate resources for mobilization and consideration;
- Consent being offered consistent with and through mobilizing Aboriginal law; and
- Consent offered without political pressure or duress.

LOOKING SOUTHWARD DOWN THE SQUAMISH VALLEY TOWARD MOUNT GERIBALDI, PHOTO WIKIMEDIA COMMONS

PART 4

Approaches to Culture and Rights Impact Determinations

A review of Canadian EAs suggest that significance determinations are typically undertaken without direct involvement of the communities being impacted by a proposed project.

Significance Determinations

Significance determinations is the approach most commonly used in EAs to determine impacts to current use of lands and resources. The federal government has considered significance (CEAA 2015), and there are six variables identified for review, including magnitude, geographic extent, timing, frequency, duration, and reversibility.

CEAA guidance identifies context as a key variable: "the context within which environmental effects occur should be taken into account when considering criteria in relation to the current use of lands and resources for traditional purposes, as it may help better characterize whether adverse effects are significant" (CEAA 2015, 20). However, a review of Canadian EAs suggest that significance determinations are typically undertaken without direct involvement of the communities being impacted by a proposed project. Other limitations include: determining significance without regard to Indigenous perspectives; reliance on external professional judgment that Indigenous communities see as, at worst, biased and, at best, methodologically flawed; and determining significance against an incomplete list of indicators and valued components that do not adequately capture relevant information regarding culture and rights.

Although beyond the scope of this paper, it must also be noted that significance determinations, as used in current EA approaches, can play a determining role in whether and what cumulative effects on culture and rights are ever assessed in an EA process.

The Shell Jackpine Mine Expansion Project is an example of how significance determinations can vary widely. In that case, the proponent determined that impacts to current use of lands by Indigenous communities were not significant while various First Nations, even when utilizing a traditional land use study to identify impacts and the standard list of variables for determining significance, concluded that impacts were significant. The differences appear to be attributable to the proponent following CEAA guidance to focus on quantitative approaches over qualitative terms, culturally inappropriate assumptions, and a failure to consider relevant contextual factors. From this case, it appears that the CEAA guidance does not have

adequate safeguards in place to ensure that "significance determinations" are undertaken in a manner that appropriately determines impacts to Indigenous culture and rights.

Because the assessment of significance is often a requirement in EAs, many First Nations have used the significance approach in their own impact studies, albeit in a way that endeavours to better reflect Indigenous values and that uses a broader set of indicators and information. For example, the Mikisew Cree have incorporated a broader approach that takes into account pre-industrial baselines, Indigenous knowledge relating to environmental effects, the loss of traditional knowledge, and preferred practices and locations, among other factors (MCFN 2016).

Ultimately, current EA regimes leave significance determinations in the hands of decision makers outside of Indigenous communities, making it inconsistent with UNDRIP approaches and often inconsistent with the broader variety of indicators and valued components described in Part 2. Guidance from the literature and findings from the case studies identify the vital role that the most impacted people should have in describing and coming to a clear view of the potential for effects, and their meaning.

Thresholds

After the cultural and/or rights impact assessment approach has been identified, and baseline data or values on culturally appropriate VCs and indicators collected, the task of understanding what a proposed project means begins. Because culture is a complex and always evolving human phenomena, it is essential to focus not only on what impacts culture can absorb (a technically estimated threshold of manageable change), but also on what the culture holders are willing to take/endure (a socially derived threshold of acceptable change) (Gibson et al. 2011).

There continues to be no agreed upon single method for considering what a project will mean for environmental components (e.g., air, water, land) (Noble 2015), so it should be no surprise that there remains similar dispute when it comes to culture. When identifying the impacts to culture, there are a diverse set of factors to consider, reviewed in Table 1 on page 33 (MVRB 2009 and Gibson et al. 2011).

Technical Thresholds of Manageable Change

Technical thresholds of manageable change are numerically established or accepted thresholds to culture. Truly every practitioner and analyst in this field will warn off of this approach, given the complexity and connectivity of each indicator of culture. However, the difficulty should not stymie the effort, for if mainstream EA is to make decisions that could detract from or strengthen cultural variables, the variety of options for exploring change deserve consideration.

Because culture is a complex and always evolving human phenomena, it is essential to focus not only on what impacts culture can absorb (a technically estimated threshold of manageable change), but also on what the culture holders are willing to take/ endure (a socially derived threshold of acceptable change).



Technical thresholds of manageable change are numerically established or accepted thresholds to culture. Truly every practitioner and analyst in this field will warn off of this approach, given the complexity and connectivity of each indicator of culture. However, the difficulty should not stymie the effort, for if mainstream EA is to make decisions that could detract from or strengthen cultural variables, the variety of options for exploring change deserve consideration.

SQUAMISH CHIEF PHOTO COURTESSY LARISSA SAYER/FLICKR A quantitative approach can involve building **social perception scales**, allowing culture holders to identify the meaning of changes to their values or to the cultural component under consideration (Groffman et al. 2006; King 2000). This might involve reviewing with a broad cross-section of the population the meaning of what the proposed project is to them, and asking them to rate or rank their view of that change. The Squamish Nation accomplished this type of ranking effort, when it ran a parallel EA to the province and federal government as the nation considered the proposed Woodfibre LNG plant. Through a series of focus group sessions, community meetings, and interviews, the EA team identified the top priority issues to the site (Bruce and Hume 2015). While this was not a quantitative ranking exercise, it did involve an iterative process in which community members continuously ranked the issues in a social setting, establishing the priority focus areas.

Constructed scales have been applied in determining priorities, notably in ranking indicators of community health in relation to shellfish habitat and shoreline archaeological sites (Donatuto et al. 2016). In this approach Indigenous participants prioritized indicators, and used pair comparisons to identify the indicators of highest concern. "A lower prioritization would not mean that the indicator is less important, only that it requires less immediate attention, due to greater resilience or adaptive capacity to the specific climate change impacts presented" (Donatuto et al. 2014, 364). Valuation techniques such as willingness to pay might be applied, as identified by Chan et al. (2012). Generally, value differences, preferences, and application of these to project alternatives have not been explored in EA.

With the focus on quantitative measures, the idea of **tipping points of change** or **thresholds** emerges. Thresholds, or maximum allowable effect levels (Noble 2015), are often recognized in assessment. Noble (2015) identifies criteria to determine the priority of threshold, and the probability that an effect will cross the threshold. The concept of threshold has been largely borrowed from ecology and adapted for sociocultural contexts to emphasize, generally, that a small change can have large impact that may be unacceptable—or unsustainable—from a culture and rights perspective (Parlee et al. 2012; MVRB 2012; Nuttall 2012).

Thresholds can be set for each **valued ecological component**, such as for water (using thresholds established in biology or through traditional knowledge) or a particular culturally important species. Parlee et al. (2012) have modeled the use of traditional ecological knowledge (TEK) to develop thresholds of change for water (using level, smell, and colour), moose (using the level of body fat), and medicinal plants (using quality and availability). The parameters that emerge for setting the thresholds are resource abundance, resource quality, access, and capacity to harvest (Parlee et al. 2012). Ecological thresholds may usefully integrate traditional knowledge. For example, ecologists might define a threshold based on ecology, but traditional knowledge holders may be consulted to develop the thresholds, given they have the "adaptive expertise" to give precision to the shifts that occur in a landscape" (Parlee et al. 2012).

This idea of setting valued component based thresholds has played out in the Athabasca River, where MCFN and ACFN set thresholds for water levels and quality for the practice of traditional use (Candler et al. 2010). In this work, culturally-appropriate thresholds for water levels in the Athabasca River, delta, and tributaries were set to support the ongoing practice of Aboriginal treaty rights, and, correspondingly, the level at which water flow interrupts this practice due to loss of access.

Thresholds can be identified for the **sufficiency of resources** for food security, based on a traditional diet. For example, Candler et al. set the basic threshold for resource sufficiency as the food allotment required to feed a family of 10. This threshold, set by Mikisew participants in the research study, was considered easier to estimate and closer to the norm for the pre-1965 baseline (Candler et al. 2015a). For example, one moose would feed a family of 10 for two weeks.

Socially Derived Threshold of Acceptable Change

Socially derived thresholds are reflective of local experience, interests, and values (Christensen and Krogman 2012; Ehrlich and Ross 2015; Walker and Meyers 2004) The primary experts on what a change will mean from a project are the culture holders themselves (Gibson et al. 2011). Meaningful assessment of cultural impacts involves the understanding that the meaning of change is a subjective determination (Ehrlich and Ross 2015; Gibson et al. 2011). It is a social and values-based decision. While it is widely held that these determinations must be based on scientific and technical information (Sadler 1996), it is recognized that culture holders themselves must explain the meaning and significance of the place or values (MVRB 2012). Citizens might identify **desired futures**, in the eyes of the community, and then test the project against the capacity to achieve the preferred future.

While socially derived thresholds can be **legal or normative** (Noble 2015), set out in legislation, through land use plans, or in local planning forums, they can also be set through considering the meaning of the site, through the eyes of the culture holders.

Socially derived thresholds can be set through reference to Indigenous laws and norms. In this case, changes to any valued component, and all VCs in combination, from a project and cumulative effects, may impact on the ability to adhere to the laws and norms of Indigenous peoples. If, for example, a natural law is that water should be allowed to run its course unimpeded, any changes to the hydrological regime through activities such as dams and impoundment of rivers may be deemed significant, because the law is being broken.

Socially derived thresholds can also be set explicitly, such as in the case where a joint review panel under CEAA set out a sustainability test that measured how a project contributed or detracted from five pillars: environmental stewardship, economic benefits and costs, social and cultural benefits and costs, fairness in the distribution of benefits and costs, and present versus future generations (Kemess North Joint Review Panel 2007). The panel determined:

...the project would continue to make significant contribution to social wellbeing and community stability in communities where workers live and service suppliers operate ... However, the panel considers the socio-cultural implications of the project for Aboriginal people, and the obstacles to their participation in the project benefits, to be a significant drawback ... Aboriginal communities appear unlikely to embrace either the project or the financial compensation and other potential benefits offered to them by the proponent. To do so would entail accepting the loss of the spiritual values of Duncan (Amazay) Lake, and Aboriginal groups have said that these values are beyond price (Kemess North Joint Review Panel 2007, 16).



Socially derived thresholds can be set through reference to Indigenous laws and norms. If, for example, a natural law is that water should be allowed to run its course unimpeded, any changes to the hydrological regime through activities such as dams and impoundment of rivers may be deemed significant, because the law is being broken.

ATHABASCA RIVER PHOTO CRAIG CHANDLER/FIRELIGHT The Kemess North Joint Review Panel delivered its report in 2007, recommending to the federal and provincial governments that the project not be approved. The federal government subsequently rejected the project.

If a rights threshold is established, in relationship to the UNDRIP, it would be tested against the benchmarks established in the literature (O'Faircheallaigh 2013; Joffe 2015). Canada and Indigenous governments have given form to this standard in some land claim agreements, namely agreements in which the Indigenous government can accept, modify, or reject recommendations made to them through EA reviews (Gibson 2017, forthcoming).

Context Must Be Explicitly Considered

As mentioned previously, the context of the site is a critical consideration (See Appendix B: Contextual Factors to Consider), and it has emerged as a key consideration in a number of panels, including the New Prosperity review panel in B.C. and uranium reviews in the NWT. Table 1 and the list below illustrate how these contextual factors were taking into consideration in two instances.

- Density of known and potential for physical heritage resources;
- Recognition of spiritual values of the areas;
- Number and nature of stated concerns of community members;
- Outright opposition to any development in the locations by culture holders, as expressed in the vehemence and emotion of presenters;
- Psycho-social impact of development in the areas;
- Irreversibility of some losses "Some places, once violated, can never in the collective memory be pristine again" (June 23, 2005 – MVRB);
- Multiplicity of uses (e.g., gathering, spiritual, burial, harvesting);
- Multiple users (more than one Aboriginal group value these locations); and
- Centrality of the locations in the cultural landscape of Aboriginal people.

The EA bodies in these two very different circumstances reviewed depth of concern, the specialness of the place to the culture holders, whether there could continue to be meaning in the site with project activities, the range of values practiced in the area, and the range of people who consider the site to be vital to culture.

There is an implicit threshold to all of the contextual factors that are considered here. The decision makers are actively considering the point at which the balance will shift, from a site being meaningful for the practice and reinforcement of culture, to one where that meaning is reduced or altered to such a degree as to be an unacceptable degree of change.

Table 1: Contextual Factors Considered in Two Cases				
Contextual factor	New Prosperity case by the review panel under CEAA 2012 (Review Panel 2013)	Mineral exploration reviews by the MVRB under MVRMA		
Depth and breath of culture holder concern	More than 130 people speak in community sessions, site visits are also very heavily attended.	The number and nature of stated concerns of community members; outright opposition to any development in the locations by culture holders. The psycho-social impact of development in the areas (in the New Shoshoni Ventures case, the Review Board noted development there would be similar to digging up the ancestors' graves).		
Specialness of the place	Information received during the New Prosperity panel review on the historical and cultural importance of the area, and the spiritual connection the Tsilhqot'in have with Fish Lake (Teztan Biny) and Nabas convinced the panel that the area is unique and of special significance to the Tsilhqot'in (Review Panel 2013, 196).	Loss of a place of refuge from the "modern" world; an area where what is today (but was not generally in 2005) called "quiet enjoyment of the land" is still possible.		
	Area described as one of the few remaining areas not affected by logging and other activities.	Centrality of the location in the cultural landscape of Aboriginal people.		
Reversibility	The panel was of the view that the Tsilhqot'in would most likely stop using Fish Lake (Teztan Biny) for spiritual and ceremonial purposes. Consequently, the panel concluded that the project would affect future opportunities for Tsilhqot'in people in teaching youth and children about traditional activities on the land, as well as cultural values. The panel was of the opinion that the loss of this cultural heritage was substantial and would impair their ability to sustain their cultural identities and ways of life. (Review Panel 2013, 196).	The irreversibility of some losses – "Some places, once violated, can never in the collective memory be pristine again. The dishonouring of a burial ground fits this definition" (MVRB 2004).		
Range of values practiced or held through the area	Dr. Nancy Turner defined Fish Lake (Teztan Biny) and adjacent areas, including Nabas, as a "cultural keystone place," a place of unique and special significance for the Tsilhqot'in; the Tsilhqot'in described Fish Lake as a very important area of traditional activities such as fishing, hunting, trapping, berries and medicine plants gathering, as well as for ceremonies and spiritual activities, intergenerational teaching of traditional values and culture (Review Panel 2013).	Multiplicity of uses identified, such as gathering, spiritual, burial, harvesting.		
Range of people that that value the place	The panel accepted that every age group used the area uniformly and by different cultures for ceremony, teaching, harvesting, and spiritual reasons, and that there was material time depth (cultural heritage).	Multiple users (more than one Aboriginal group valued these locations).		

Assessment Process Matters

Done at their worst, mainstream practitioners tend to study only archaeology in cultural impact assessment. In these cases, ethnography is totally "washed out," the baseline is set at the project development phase without any back casting to a pre-industrial era conditions set, and all violent colonial interruptions (total cumulative effects loading to date) are erased from view.

DONE AT THEIR WORST, MAINSTREAM PRACTITIONERS tend to study only archaeology in cultural impact assessment. In these cases, ethnography is totally "washed out" (Satterfield, personal communication, February 24, 2017), the baseline is set at the project development phase without any back casting to a pre-industrial era conditions set, and all violent colonial interruptions (total cumulative effects loading to date) are erased from view.

Done at their best, studies reinforce and invigorate culture, and provide robust and clear evidence for decision-making. They lead the reader to the complex set of outcomes that can emerge, or allow planning to occur that permits almost complete avoidance of cultural impacts, or in some cases opportunities to strengthen culture.

Community Led Processes Change Outcomes

Increasingly, Indigenous peoples are taking control of EA culture and rights studies, and non-EA studies such as Indigenous land use plans, themselves. The change to the process and the outcome of research are notable. Rather than having research "done to them," Indigenous people control the terms, the approach, and the method. There is a resulting change in approach and trust, leading to stronger research, the results of which are accepted and adopted more readily by community members themselves. As well, these approaches depend on and strengthen culture as the study is pursued. Culture is lived and reinforced as it is studied, rather than depicted as frozen in time in an increasingly distant past.

Lack of control over methods and interpretation simply leads to weak and failed studies. To begin with, people are highly unlikely to mobilize their substantial knowledge and political and social capital when they feel no control over the approach taken. When control is in the hands of the proponent, studies tend to skim the surface, missing vital cultural and social context. Proponents generally depend on consulting firms to conduct studies, and in their hands (with no local trust or buy in) culture holders often remove themselves from view or are simply never identified. Vital local context and indeed even cultural heritage sites are rendered invisible to the mainstream study.

O'Faircheallaigh (2017) makes this point clear, describing how Indigenous control over defining a terms of reference led to entirely different results.

If you had given that Terms of Reference to a mainstream firm, they would go away and look for archaeological sites. If you leave it with the mainstream, they will go and look for bones and stones and because of that, they would miss all of the aspects of culture that the Kimberly Land Council (KLC) covered. (O'Faircheallaigh, personal communication, March 7, 2017)

O'Faircheallaigh refers here to an Indigenous controlled strategic assessment, in which the Indigenous leads (the KLC) sponsored seven volumes of research that covered different aspect of culture and rights, many of which were related and interconnected. Clearly, different issues emerge. For example, the KLC review sets the assessment and engagement scope not by geography or community, but by native title determination, language country areas, and regional cultural relationships (KLC 2010c). Left to mainstream EA, there would have been one set of Traditional Owners engaged in the review process, and traditional governance and wunan (Indigenous law, described below) would have been actively undermined.

The Indigenous controlled research approach averts a common problem that occurs in EA in Canada, namely contradictory results on seemingly the same cultural effect. Proponentcontrolled research is often countered with a community-controlled study, leading to conflicting views of culture and interpretations of how the project will weigh on the people and the land. For example, in a review of the potential effects of the Shell Jackpine mine on culture the proponent offered little evidence of cultural heritage based on a desktop approach that completely excluded Indigenous views (Golder Associates 2012). The only response for a community is then to offer, if there are resources, time, and capacity, a completely different view. The dueling studies are played out publicly in EA processes, and the review panels or boards are placed in the position of weighing the approach, method, and bench strength of each study to inform their judgments and determinations.

Is the solution therefore to simply place power and control of study design and study populations in the hands of communities? Evidence suggests that studies designed and controlled by communities tend to:

- Ensure there is engagement of the knowledgeable people in the design of the scale and scope of the study (Gibson et al. 2011);
- Include knowledgeable people who can draw on past knowledge to identify areas of interest (Review Panel 2013); and
- Provide insider understanding of the meaning and context that is not available to external researchers, such as an archaeologist.

The battle of the dueling studies is only one problem averted by community-controlled studies. Studies that frame culture as something held by people in the past, written by a distanced anthropologist, can perpetuate the violent legacy of colonization. Given that mainstream culture depends on the written record, any new record that registers absence, lack of meaning, or low cultural heritage in a place where the opposite is true will hold and then gain further weight. It will build a narrative of absence, and clear the way for development to occur.



An Indigenous controlled strategic assessment, in which the Indigenous leads (the Kimberley Land Council) sponsored seven volumes of research that covered different aspect of culture and rights, many of which were related and interconnected. Clearly, different issues emerge.

KIMBERLEY COAST PHOTO THINKSTOCK Perhaps the most notable change in community-controlled studies is that the culture is alive and enlivened in the research process. The cultural studies from the Kimberly illustrate this point. Culture was actively reinforced, specifically governance, in the setting of the terms for the parallel engagement on the siting decision. The Traditional Owners Taskforce (TOTF), established in 2008, drew on and reinforced Indigenous law. Specifically, the TOTF drew on the wunan [Indigenous law and way of being as describe by the TOs] when making decisions, negotiating agreements, and planning for benefits:

The wunan can be viewed as an overarching foundational practice of local and regional Indigenous governance, like a blueprint for living, which has currency throughout the Kimberley (KLC 2010b, 26). The wunan... was drawn on to identify who to bring into the conversations, how to share benefits, how to structure meetings, and how to make decisions. The TOTF constituted an effort by the KLC and senior Indigenous peoples to draw on their traditional governance and decision-making practices while incorporating contemporary meeting procedures, decision making and information transfer practices, to create a unique, culturally appropriate, consistent and comprehensive consultation and engagement process.

Perhaps the most notable change in communitycontrolled studies is that the culture is alive and enlivened in the research process.

BLACK TUSK, GARIBALDI PROVINCIAL PARK WIKIMEDIA COMMONS



This process involved interaction among themselves, with other Kimberley Traditional Owners and various other interests such as proponents, governments, NGOs and the wider public. The KLC considers that this decision-making processes developed by Kimberley Traditional Owners constitutes 'best practice' with regard to development-related decision-making. (KLC 2010b, 22)

Power and control over the terms, approaches, and methods are often out of the hands of communities, making Indigenous-led research and EAs a significant political risk for Indigenous nations, as well as other governments and proponents. This is a key point underlying any Indigenous led EA. The broader political context of any Indigenous led process cannot be ignored. In the case

where the Squamish Nation ran its own parallel EA, the nation knowingly suspended its own engagement in the provincial and federal EAs, conducting its own review with the proponent. The nation did so with substantial political risk, given that the federal and provincial processes did not acknowledge the Squamish Nation Process. This could have played out against them. They risked having their own findings, mitigation measures, and project changes fall under the radar of the province and the Crown, an outcome that did not come to pass. Indeed, the province revised its license conditions, including reference to the SNP terms. A different risk was assumed in Australia by the KLC. When the state government unilaterally chose one location, the KLC and Traditional Owners were disheartened, but were required to continue their participation in the siting process in order to practice their own Indigenous law of taking care of the land.

The Squamish process (Bruce and Hume 2015) increases the legitimacy of the project by making vital modifications to protect culture and developing a strong relationship between the proponent and the nation. The company, Woodfibre LNG, committed to implement the conditions set by the Squamish Nation, a compelling outcome.
Indigenous Knowledge Mobilization

The focus on traditional knowledge research has largely grown out of land claims processes, and related and linked co-management and EA processes. While it is a standard approach of EAs to require at least some attempt to integrate traditional knowledge, the result of these attempts is that knowledge is often treated narrowly, or applied outside of its cultural and spiritual context (O'Faircheallaigh 2009). There are two common concerns with approaches to Indigenous knowledge: ecologists who "cherry pick" concepts that line up with their own understanding, and collection that is done out of context by researchers who have no relationship or understanding of the worldview.

Indigenous knowledge is often extracted or distilled (Nadasdy 1999), rather then defined in the broad categories identified by Berkes (2012) as 1) local empirical knowledge of animals, plants, soils and landscape; 2) resource management systems (including practices, tools, and techniques); 3) traditional systems of management and their social institutions, rules, norms, and codes of social relationships, and 4) worldview. The distillation of Indigenous knowledge was identified as a key problem in western designed processes more than two decades ago. Nadasdy (1999) writes:

This is powerfully illustrated by native Elders who, when asked to share their knowledge about the "environment," are just as likely to talk about "non-environmental" topics like kinship or respect as they are to talk about animals and landscapes. Every time researchers or bureaucrats dismiss or ignore these parts of an Elder's testimony as irrelevant, they are actually imposing their own culturally derived standards of relevance." (6)

The narrow approach that tends to be taken to Indigenous knowledge often involves bringing a few knowledge holders along for the western science ecology studies as observers, and recording their occasional comments. Many Indigenous groups have rejected this cultural appropriation technique outright and publicly. However, data gathered in this way has often been allowed into formal provincial and federal EA processes regardless of these clearly stated concerns.

The practice is different with many community led studies, which allow stories and knowledge to be shared in the settings they are always shared in, between the generations. When Elders and hunters are able to teach young people about their stories and histories out on the land, in community controlled studies, they are actively living their culture. Traditional knowledge is carefully characterized, but not at all in isolation. For example, ethno-botanical reports for the KLC resulted in a rich overview of the practices, knowledge, and history of the plants in the site area, while the reviews for the Tsilhqot'in in the New Prosperity review in B.C. prepared a rich understanding of the mutual relationship of grizzly bears to the people (Senger 2013). TEK cannot be reduced to data points that can be used to understand a concept. This understanding has been evident in the literature for some time:

The imperative of incorporating TEK into the state management system has caused researchers to focus on extracting from communities only that kind of information which can be expressed in a few very specific ways—that is, in forms that can be

The practice is different with many community led studies, which allow stories and knowledge to be shared in the settings they are always shared in, between the generations. When **Elders and hunters** are able to teach young people about their stories and histories out on the land, in community controlled studies. they are actively living their culture.

utilized within the institutional framework of scientific resource management, such as numbers and lines on maps contained in reports, books, and other written documents—and then to interpret it in a manner consistent with the assumptions of scientific wildlife management. (Nadasdy 1999, 14)

Indigenous knowledge is engaged and reinforced – and it is more likely to emerge and be understood – in contexts where the community is in control of the context, the setting, and the attention to cultural protocol.

Counting What Counts: Mixed-Method Approaches

Both qualitative and quantitative approaches have a place in studies of culture. Quantitative tools are used, where appropriate, to augment qualitative approaches, and vice versa. For example, data on the percentage of language speakers is vital, but reasons for decline or change can best be understood in discussion with local people. The point is that quantitative data can indicate what is happening, but it can rarely indicate why that change is occurring.

Many study approaches are available to the culture and rights researcher, from field-based studies, to ethnography, planning studies, and oral history. The most comprehensive of approaches noted in recent years was the Australian LNG review, managed by the Kimberley Land Council. The complex of studies relied on evidence from archaeology, oral testimony, ethnographic data, quantitative surveys of cultural practices, aerial and land based surveys of flora and fauna, topographical and geographical information, and site visits to record and photograph areas of ethno-biological importance (including traditional foods, weapons, tools, and medicines). The KLC left no stone unturned in promoting and protecting culture and employed multiple methodological approaches. Indeed, their attention turned as well to the gender and community based balance of the research team, to ensure they would be able to access gendered knowledge in the appropriate setting (and with the right person).

Many culture and rights studies employ a mixed-method approach, bringing quantitative data to bear along with qualitative research approaches. For example, Nancy Turner's (2013) work on cultural keystone species for the Tsilhqot'in Nation relied on data from archaeology, oral history and memory, linguistic (for precise vocabulary), social and economic review, spiritual and ceremonial values, cultural transmission, and ecological function and process. Thereafter, she applied a quantitative ranking system to determine the extent to which the area constituted a cultural keystone place.

Broadening the Focus: Building an Array of Culture Studies

Sometimes, due to the resources available or the chosen focus, culture concepts are left to one researcher to pursue in the context of one study. In some of the Indigenous led studies, however, many different volumes and treatments are commissioned to study a breadth of cultural values. For example, Tsilhqot'in Nation commissioned reports during the



Quantitative data can indicate what is happening, but it can rarely indicate why that change is occurring. EA review of the proposed New Prosperity mine, including traditional use and occupancy studies (Erhart-English 1994; Erhart-English 2012; Larcombe 2013); ethno-ecology and ethno-biology (Turner 2013); species-specific studies (Senger 2013), as well as archaeology and cultural heritage studies with Xeni Gwet'in Elders, among others.

The intent here is to bring many different cultural components into view through a variety of approaches, and then to consider how the project interacts with these components. The approach taken by the Tsilhqot'in ensured that use, relationship to plants and animals, meaning of the place, and cultural heritage were given distinct and focused treatment. Each volume focused on the ceremonial and spiritual meaning and the transmission of knowledge between generations, bringing this theme into the forefront of the studies.

This concept is known as "triangulation" – the more studies that are conducted that find the same or similar findings on a single overarching question – for example, how will this project affect culture or rights – the more detailed the final argument becomes. Multiple independent studies provide confirmation if they have similar findings, and bring an increased weight of evidence to bear that is harder for both proponents and decision-makers to dismiss.

Fundamental Inputs: Counting on Knowledge Holders

The ongoing and inclusive engagement of a wide array of knowledge holders and community members is a hallmark of Indigenous-led processes, wherein practitioners employ a process of iterative exchange of information, scoping of impacts and areas of study, and sharing of information. This process is a recognized method, and it has the effect of confirming information, and gradually adding further opinion and precision to key impacts. This occurred in the Squamish process, in which community hall meetings, focus groups, and many opportunities for dialogue occurred, and Squamish Nation decision makers were able to determine community held values, and how these would be impacted by the project (Bruce and Hume 2015). This iterative review also served to develop community confidence in the project, and in the understanding of the impacts. The same occurred in the KLC process, whereby senior leaders sat down and set out a process, based on their Indigenous law. The Traditional Owners Task Force, comprised of four people from every area, was thereafter in charge of designing the methods and approaches taken in the studies. One of the expert practitioners, O'Faircheallaigh, emphasizes the unique outcomes of this approach:

The Terms of Reference were very broad for the strategic assessment, with respect to rights and culture. It was entirely up the KLC to define how they would set out the terms themselves. (O'Faircheallaigh, personal communication, March 7, 2017)

The Terms of Reference required that Indigenous environmental values and Indigenous cultural heritage (environmental) values, including all values held by Traditional Owners in the area likely to be affected and including broader biological communities, habitats and environments in which species with Indigenous environmental/ conservation values might live. (EPBCA 2008) In the Squamish process, community hall meetings, focus groups, and many opportunities for dialogue occurred, and Squamish Nation decision makers were able to determine community held values, and how these would be impacted by the project. This iterative review also served to develop community confidence in the project, and in the understanding of the impacts.

Mobilizing Knowledge in Communities and Out on the Land

Oral testimony plays a vital role – both in research done about culture and rights and in public testimony in the EA process. Oral history is vital in establishing context, continuity, history, and the meaning of the place (and the relationship of the people to the animals and the land in the place).



The critical ingredient is the inputs of the culture holders themselves. These early stage exploration projects were turned down, largely based on oral testimony of Elders and letters from the nations, as well as limited archaeological study. (MacDonald, personal communication, February 13, 2017)

The oral testimony of elders, youth, leaders and other land users was all considered evidence of both likely impacts and public concern levels, both of which are critical in the MVRMA decision-making process. (MVRB 2004)

Oral testimony can be video taped, recorded, and is often transcribed. Mostly it is given directly, and it is heard and witnessed in community, public, or site hearings.

The critical ingredient is the inputs of the culture holders themselves. These early stage exploration projects were turned down, largely based on oral testimony of Elders and letters from the nations, as well as limited archaeological study.

FISH LAKE PHOTO, FROM DASIQOX.ORG In New Prosperity community hearings, oral histories, and photos were presented, and seem to have provided the context for the CEAA panel to understand particular impacts that were being explained by the Elders (most specifically the spiritual impacts). In one day of community hearings, 127 citizens described their connection and relationship to the land. Notably, the communities requested site visits by the panel, which were at the specific sites where mineral extraction would occur; these are the places of high cultural, ceremonial, and spiritual significance. Panel members were out on the land with nation leaders and knowledge holders, with the intent of understanding community views. In these contexts, the leaders opened with prayer and drumming, allowing Indigenous protocol to be followed. Even in this land-based hearing context, Chief Roger Williams was clear that the cultural protocol of the Elders was being bent in order to convey the seriousness of the issues to the panel (to which the nation members were presenting in the daytime):

I'm hoping to get our Elders involved but they're not comfortable; it's not easy for them. So we just wanted to begin because these stories supposed to be told in the evening, we're going to do this process so that we can protect ourselves, protect everyone because our Elders say that when you tell these stories, these legends they're sacred. A sacred story which land and people and animals, birds and fish will change during those days, and those are sacred moments that are told at night. That's when — in spirituality the safest — one of the safest times, so with this sage and this water we're — we wanted to do that with the legend story. (CEAA, site visit, August 9, 2013)

In these site visits, Elders prayed, sang songs, described cremation sites, and described their activities out on the land. They also conducted a water ceremony. It was a very natural place for the Elders to describe their worldview, in contrast to the community or public hearings.

Methodological Constraints

There are typical constraints and complaints that are raised with respect to the types of studies that have been described, including interviews, focus groups, and oral testimony. They tend to relate to sample size, reliability, and validity. These concerns can be disposed of rather easily.

It is generally the case that anyone with exposure to social science methods will be most familiar with surveys. Surveys rely for their validity on a sample size large and wide enough to fairly predict what the population has to say about a particular issue. These same standards are falsely applied to all other research activity.

Generally panel members or culture study readers lack the experience of social science, and they themselves are not embedded in the community or social structure. They don't have the capacity therefore to assess the methods being used, and they apply this same standard of survey size sample to other studies. In these examinations, evidence is rejected because of insufficient data, the aggregation of data, and insufficient sample size (to be representative).

Many of the studies reviewed herein take a targeted approach of working with Elders or key harvesters who are knowledgeable and have core understandings and use. These methods are well accepted in ethnography, namely that there will be culture leaders — or "culture bosses" as they call them sometimes in Australia — who will have the knowledge earned and gained through long study to speak about a particular area or issue.

The culture holders themselves are the experts in selecting who has the authority to speak about a particular area of land. Community leaders will identify the core knowledge holders who have the right and duty to speak about an area, whether it is a family or held more broadly by a set of harvesters. A caveat is that colonial systems of governance have had a blunt traumatic impact on organizing, and have broadly undermined the ways that people organize their relationship to the land. Nonetheless, the nation will identify who it is that is knowledgeable about an area, and speaking to people who do not have that authority will yield very little. This lack of knowledge is taken by naive researchers to indicate that the nation holds no knowledge of an area, but this is a fundamental misapprehension of the lived reality.

Once the right people have been identified, the research team will work with them (in appropriate contexts, settings, and with the right interviewers and in the right language) to unearth everything there is to know about a concept. There will be consistency identified between speakers, and generally speaking, once there is no new knowledge being spoken about (or no new stories), then the point of "concept saturation" has generally been hit.

Thereafter, good methodological practice will involve taking these concepts back to the key knowledge holders or more broadly. This is called community verification. It is a vital methodological step, described here by an expert practitioner:

Oral testimony is fed into it, for example, with KLC you had teams consisting of western scientists and aboriginal knowledge holders doing work together in the field. From the aboriginal side, oral testimony played a large part. It is a matter of making sure it was properly documented (e.g., video tape, scribe who would go

The culture holders themselves are the experts in selecting who has the authority to speak about a particular area of land. through with group and ask if it was correctly written down) so you have record of that oral testimony. It is very rare that people would say, "No, you got that wrong," but would elicit additional information. All of the documents would then go to the consultants (e.g., Vol. 3 included quotations from people and all were illustrated from what people said). Oral testimony is hugely important and absolutely central. (O'Faircheallaigh, personal communication, February 14, 2017)

Researchers might also look at materials or evidence that corroborates the oral history, though this of course may privilege written or documentary evidence. This principle may have been innately understood at the New Prosperity hearings, because so many Tsilhqo'tin presenters used photos, films, and family genealogies to illustrate their oral testimony.

A message may also strongly resonate, and be given weight, because of the range of people it is conveyed by (Miller 2011). The NWT decisions on uranium certainly employed this test, as revealed in this statement: "The Review Board heard from a broad cross-section of the community spanning three generations, from Elders to community leaders to youth" (MVRB 2012, 36); they heard the same message of cultural and spiritual significance from "the tallest to the smallest" (Macdonald, personal communication, February 13, 2017).

Cumulative Effects: Insult and Injury

Indigenous people in Canada are emerging from a time during which the Canadian government perpetrated policies of "cultural genocide" upon them (Truth and Reconciliation Commission – TRC 2015). The key point, for any EA or planning approach for Indigenous lands, is that the existing baseline is significantly diminished from a previous state, even in the pre-project case. The Canadian government targeted culture specifically and systematically through the administration of colonial policies, including outlawing spiritual practices, separating children from their parents and sending them to residential schools, denying them the right to participate fully in Canadian political, economic, and social life, replacing the system of governance, and asserting control over lands (TRC 2015).

This is a fundamental point – every EA or every planning process occurs in a context in which colonial policy continues to shape and restrict the ability of Indigenous peoples to express themselves freely in their own languages, teaching their children in ways that transmit knowledge, and through the continued priority given to extractive industries as a priority over the rights of Indigenous peoples. The UNDRIP calls for a different approach.

Setting a different baseline (pre-contact) is only part of the solution. There have been studies that recognize this pre-contact baseline, such as the Mikisew culture and rights study that set a pre-oil and gas baseline as 1965 (Candler et al. 2015a).

Cumulative effects studies that approach analysis from a pre-contact baseline and consider it to already be fundamentally impacted are likely to emerge. For example, two cumulative effects studies for the Carrier Sekani Tribal Council in relation to the Coastal GasLink Project found: that the land base in Carrier Sekani territory and the resources in that territory had already been largely impacted and alienated by prior industrial, residential, transportation,

The key point, for any EA or planning approach for Indigenous lands, is that the existing baseline is significantly diminished from a previous state, even in the preproject case. and resource development activities (MacDonald 2014); and that a large number of species of fish and game relied upon for practice of CSTC member Aboriginal rights had simultaneously declined in the pre-project case (Toth and Tung 2014). These mapping and quantitative stock data studies provided compelling and mutually supportive findings of pre-existing significant adverse cumulative effects, which changed the context within which new LNG-related projects needed to be considered by the province.

Different Venues: Planning Processes for the Bigger Decisions

There has certainly been a need clearly stated for larger land use decisions not to be made through environmental assessment processes. Indeed, that was a primary complaint with a decision made by the Mackenzie Valley Review Board, within the Screech Lake REA, in which the Review Board noted:

To the people of Łutsël K'e, the potential for increased industrial development in this area is not compatible with the values of the Upper Thelon basin as a cultural landscape. They view this as a desecration of a spiritual landscape. They want the Review Board to help protect it from the impacts of industrial activity by the proposed development in combination with all other industrial activities (such as claim staking, aerial surveys, diamond drilling, other exploration activities and air traffic associated with most of these activities) that potentially affect it. (MVRB 2004)

This broad approach – a "do not enter" sign on a whole region – is one that has been criticized as a de facto land use planning role that is not meant for environmental assessment. It has

been a strong recommendation leading out of decisions, such as the Shell Jackpine Mine Expansion Project Joint Review Panel, that broader processes occur:

The Panel also recommends that if the governments of Canada and Alberta identify offsets as necessary, the selection and implementation of conservation offsets should consider the effects of the offsets on existing Aboriginal TLU and consider the need to maintain areas for traditional use by Aboriginal peoples, including areas containing traditional plants and other culturally important resources.

This emphasizes the idea that broader approaches and studies can settle issues that are better not left in the realm of EA. The Review Board noted "To the people of Łutsël K'e, the potential for increased industrial development in this area is not compatible with the values of the Upper Thelon basin as a cultural landscape. They view this as a desecration of a spiritual landscape."

THELON RIVER BASIN PHOTO COURTESY CAMERON HAYNE/ WIKIMEDIA COMMONS



PART 6

Lessons Learned

It is abundantly clear that research on culture and rights that does not start with the community misses the mark. There is simply no context brought forward, no meaning from the local culture holders, and worst of all, the research has no local validity. It fails the methodological tests that are applied, as well as the tests of local validity.

APPROACHES TO THE STUDY OF CULTURE AND RIGHTS will continue to change. Through this literature review, the case study consideration, and in expert interviews, it has become clear that this is a field that has to continue to reward experimentation and change. Change seems to be arriving primarily from Indigenous communities themselves, led (with some risk to themselves) by Indigenous theorists and allies (Bruce and Hume 2015; O'Faircheallaigh 2013).

What Doesn't Work

It is abundantly clear that research on culture and rights that does not start with the community misses the mark. There is simply no context brought forward, no meaning from the local culture holders, and worst of all, the research has no local validity. It fails the methodological tests that are applied, as well as the tests of local validity.

Nonetheless, we continue to see mainstream firms leading expert archaeologist driven studies that result in stories of cultures frozen in time and characterized by their cultural heritage of, for example, flint scrapings. This is not to say that archaeology is not vital to site and cultural heritage interpretation. It is, but the model has changed, and best practice now shows Elder or culture leads working in collaboration with archaeologists.

Similarly, the time seems to have passed for a focus only on one aspect of culture. Culture simply cannot be reduced to the points on a map indicated by kill sites. These studies tend to take knowledge out of context, and identify use or values as the only important qualities of culture. They clear the way for market-based development.

EA, because of the focus on one particular set of project interactions with culture, has a sharp focus on the scale of the project. This simply doesn't line up well with cultural analysis. The tendency here is to frame project effects as small, and therefore not as significant, because of the physical size. What we have seen here is that the physical size of a project should not be used to infer its meaning.

Studies that fail to involve culture holders open themselves up to three sources of uncertainty. First, they rarely have enough information about the place itself, or where to look in the particular place, for cultural heritage finds. They simply miss important past markers. The second source of uncertainty is the absence of context. Without the right people to assist in interpretation, or point the right way, the values, the stories, and the cultural heritage have no cultural context. Finally, external researchers that conduct studies without direction rarely find the right people to speak to. They are rarely able to achieve "concept" or "interviewee" saturation. As a result, the studies they release frequently find little evidence of cultural heritage or cultural meaning.

What Looks Promising

This review has highlighted the potential for methodological and conceptual innovation. Culture and rights studies across the country have shown this innovation, with some of the innovation occurring in the oil sands of Alberta. Notably, the Mikisew Cree is at the forefront of change, trialing new approaches to understanding project effects on culture and rights (Candler et al. 2015a), and profiling the close relationship held to bison (Candler et al. 2015b), akin to keystone species research (Garibaldi and Turner 2004).

There continues to be scope for further innovation in how EA processes are conducted and led. The Squamish Nation and the Kimberly Land Council led processes that hold promise, in which people organized in ways that made sense to them to gradually learn about proposed development, adding information over time, and identifying their priorities. In both cases, the Indigenous party took full control of definition of the terms of reference, of the approach taken with respect to culture and rights, and of the mitigations that were assigned.

Other approaches that hold promise are broader processes, such as strategic assessments or regional land use plans. All of the lessons on control, ownership, and processes that are defined in alignment with the Indigenous worldview and way of organizing continue to apply.

Studies that line up with Indigenous ways of thinking and organizing need to be supported – for example through the application of Indigenous health indicators or cultural services studies. There should be experimentation and innovation with the following principles met:

- Foreground Indigenous views of the land and the meaning of what occurs out on the land, with both qualitative and quantitative treatments. It will be vital to enliven community values and perspectives in studies that connect people deeply to their land and stewardship values, bringing forward the cultural meaning of places, and ensuring these meanings are central in the determinations of land use.
- Ensure there is community control over the terms, scopes, and methods applied. This
 review has shown that community control produces fundamentally different study
 outcomes, with a much richer understanding of culture and rights coming into view.
- Enliven cultural studies by ensuring the Indigenous laws and norms are central to the organizing of the approach. When Indigenous law, norms, and values provide the

Other approaches that hold promise are broader processes, such as strategic assessments or regional land use plans. All of the lessons on control, ownership, and processes that are defined in alignment with the Indigenous worldview and way of organizing continue to apply.

framework for organizing, the methods and scope that emerge are unique, trusted, and accepted.

- Consider the development of thresholds that are tested, reviewed, and understood by communities. The literature and every case points to the vital role that communities hold in setting the threshold for culture and rights. The culture holders are the experts.
- Bring to light the views of both men and women in communities, and with them the issues and concerns that shine a light in these contexts generally testing projects against their desired futures for community and environmental health and well-being.
- Consistent with the UNDRIP, employ processes consistent with the principles of FPIC, testing these approaches against the benchmarks established in the literature.

References

- Andrews, Thomas D. and Susan Buggey. 2008.
 "Authenticity in Aboriginal Cultural Landscapes." Journal of Preservation Technology 39 (2–3): 63–71.
- Bannister, Kelly and George Nicholas. 2015. "Irony as Inspiration: From Academic Research to Community Action in Protecting Biocultural Landscapes." *Langscape* 4 (1): 62–67.
- [BC EAO]. BC Environmental Assessment Office. 2015."Woodfibre LNG Project Assessment Report." Victoria, B.C.
- Berkes, Fikret. 2012. *Sacred Ecology*. 3rd ed. New York: Routledge.
- Bruce, Aaron S. February 17, 2017. Personal communication, telephone.
- Bruce, Aaron S. and Emma Hume. 2015. "The Squamish Nation Process: Getting to Consent." North Vancouver, B.C.: Ratcliff & Company LLP.
- Bryan, B.A., C.M. Raymond, N.D. Crossman and D.H.
 MacDonald. 2010. "Targeting the Management of Ecosystem Services Based on Social Values: Where, What, and How?" *Landscape and Urban Planning* 97 (2): 111–22.
- Calliou Group. 2014. "Gitxaala Valued Components Report: Port Edward Area LNG Projects." Kitkatla, B.C.: Gitxaala Nation.
- Candler, Craig, Ginger Gibson, Molly Malone and The Firelight Group. 2015a. "Wîyôw'tan'kitaskino (Our Land Is Rich): A Mikisew Cree Culture and Rights Assessment for the Proposed Teck Frontier Project Update." The Firelight Group for Mikisew Cree First Nation.
- Candler, Craig, Susan Leech and Carolyn Whittaker. 2015b. "Sakâw Mostos (Wood Bison): Mikisew Cree

First Nation Indigenous Knowledge Study." The Firelight Group for Mikisew Cree First Nation.

- Candler, Craig, Rachel Olson, Steven DeRoy, The Firelight Group, Athabasca Chipewyan First Nation and Mikisew Cree First Nation. 2010. "As Long as the Rivers Flow: Athabasca River Knowledge, Use and Change." Executive Summary. Parkland Institute, University of Alberta.
- Cardinal, Harold and Walter Hildebrandt. 2000. *Treaty Elders of Saskatchewan: Our Dream Is That Our Peoples Will One Day Be Clearly Recognized as Nations*. Calgary: University of Calgary Press.
- [CEAA] Canadian Environmental Assessment Agency. 2015. "Technical Guidance for Assessing the Current Use of Lands and Resources for Traditional Purposes under the Canadian Environmental Assessment Act, 2012." Draft for public comment.
- [CEAA] Canadian Environmental Assessment Agency. 1996. "A Reference Guide for the Canadian Environmental Assessment Act: Assessing Environmental Effects on Physical and Cultural Heritage Resources." Hull, Quebec.
- Chan, Kai M.A., Terre Satterfield and Joshua Goldstein. 2012. "Rethinking Ecosystem Services to Better Address and Navigate Cultural Values." *Ecological Economics* 74: 8–18.
- Christensen, Lisa and Naomi Krogman. 2012. "Social Thresholds and Their Translation into Social-Ecological Management Practices." *Ecology & Society* 17 (1): 126–34.
- Constitution Act, 1982, Being Schedule B to the Canada Act 1982 (UK), 1982, c 11.

- Deline First Nation. 2005. "Dene Ways of Respecting the Land and Animals." Final Report.
- Donatuto, J., L. Campbell and R. Gregory. 2016.
 "Developing Responsive Indicators of Indigenous Community Health." *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 13 (9): 899. doi:10.3390/ijerph13090899.
- Donatuto, Jamie, Eric E. Grossman, John Konovsky, Sarah Grossman and Larry W. Campbell. 2014. "Indigenous Community Health and Climate Change: Integrating Biophysical and Social Science Indicators." *Coastal Management* 42 (4): 355–73.
- Donatuto, Jamie, Terre Satterfield and Robin Gregory. 2011. "Poisoning the Body to Nourish the Soul: Prioritising Health Risks and Impacts in a Native American Community." *Health, Risk & Society* 13 (2): 103–27.
- Dyanna Jolly Consulting on behalf of Te Rūnanga o Kaikōura. 2007a. "Cultural Impact Assessment for a Proposed Plan Change and Coastal Subdivision at Claverley." Christchurch, NZ: Marlborough District Council and Te Rūnanga o Kaikōura.
- Dyanna Jolly Consulting on behalf of Te Rūnanga o Kaikōura. 2007b. "Cultural Impact Assessment for Discharges Associated with the Sewage Treatment Plant (RC 060927)." Christchurch, NZ: Marlborough District Council and Te Rūnanga o Kaikōura.
- Ehrhart-English, Cindy. 2012. "Public Comment on the EIS for the New Prosperity Copper-Gold Project Proposal."
- Ehrhart-English, Cindy L. 1994. "The Heritage Significance of the Fish Lake Study Area: Ethnography." British Columbia: Taseko Mines Limited.
- Ehrlich, Alan. 2012. "Dealing with Culturally Sensitive Areas in Industrial Project Design." *The International Indigenous Policy Journal* 3 (2) [online].
- Ehrlich, Alan and William Ross. 2015. "The Significance Spectrum and ElA Significance Determinations." Impact Assessment and Project Appraisal 33 (2): 87–97.
- [EPBCA] Environmental Protection and Biodiversity Conservation Act. 2008. "Relating to the Assessment of the Impacts of Actions Under the Plan for the

Browse Basin Common-User Liquefied Natural Gas Precinct and Associated Activities." Part 10 Strategic Assessments, Section 146 (1) Agreement. Western Australian Government.

- Ganesharajah, Cynthia. 2009. "Indigenous Health and Wellbeing: The Importance of Country." Native Title Research Report 1/2009.
- Garibaldi, Ann and Nancy Turner. 2004. "Cultural Keystone Species: Implications for Ecological Conservation and Restoration." *Ecology and Society* 9 (3): 1 [online].
- Gibson, Ginger. 2017 forthcoming. "Free, Prior and Informed Consent: a Case in the NWT."
- Gibson, Ginger, Alistair MacDonald and Ciaran
 O'Faircheallaigh. 2011. "Cultural Considerations for
 Mining and Indigenous Communities." In SME Mining
 Engineering Handbook, edited by Peter Darling, 3rd
 ed, 1797–1816. Englewood, CO: Society for Mining,
 Metallurgy, and Exploration.
- Gibson MacDonald, Ginger, John B. Zoe and Terre Satterfield. 2014. "Reciprocity in the Canadian Dene Diamond Mining Economy." In *Natural Resource Extraction and Indigenous Livelihoods: Development Challenges in the Era of Globalization*, edited by Emma Gilberthrope and Gavin Hilson, 57–74. Burlington, VT: Ashgate Publishing Company.
- Gill, Duane A. and Liesel A. Ritchie. 2011. "A Social Impact Assessment of the Enbridge Northern Gateway Pipeline Project in Regard to the Gitga'at First Nation." Gitga'at First Nation, British Columbia: Hartley Bay Band Office.
- Golder Associates. 2012. "Jackpine Mine Expansion Project: Cultural Assessment." 11-1346–0035. Shell Canada Energy.
- Groffman, Peter M., Jill S. Baron, Tamara Blett, Arthur J. Gold, Iris Goodman, Lance H. Gunderson, Barbara Levinson et al. 2006. "Ecological Thresholds: The Key to Successful Environmental Management or an Important Concept with No Practical Application?" *Ecosystems* 9: 1–13.
- Hammatt, H. 2008. "Cultural Impact Assessment for the Alakai Protective Fence Project Waimea and Wainiha Ahupua'a, Waimea and Hanalei Districts, Island of Kaua'i." Kailua: Cultural Surveys Hawai'i.

Hernandez-Morcillo, M., T. Plieninger and C. Bieling. 2013. "An Empirical Review of Cultural Ecosystem Service Indicators." *Ecological Indicators* 29 (June): 434–44.

- [HJDO] Haines Junction Designated Office. 2012. "White River- Quartz Exploration Project Number: 2012-0080." Designated Office Evaluation Report. Yukon Environmental and Socio-Economic Assessment Board.
- Joffe, Paul. 2015. "'Veto' and 'Consent' Significant Differences."
- Kemess North Joint Review Panel. 2007. "Kemess North Copper-Gold Mine Project Joint Review Panel Report."
- King, Thomas F. 2000. "What should be the 'cultural resources' element of an EIA?" *Environmental Impact Assessment Review* 20 (1): 5–30.
- [KLC] Kimberley Land Council. 2010a. "Indigenous Impacts Report Volume 1: Overview and Consolidated Recommendations." Volume 1. Browse Liquefied Natural Gas Precinct Strategic Assessment Report. Kimberley Land Council.
- [KLC] Kimberley Land Council. 2010b. "Indigenous Impacts Report Volume 2: Traditional Owner Consent and Indigenous Community Consultation." Volume2. Browse Liquefied Natural Gas Precinct Strategic Assessment Report. Kimberley Land Council.
- [KLC] Kimberley Land Council. 2010c. "Indigenous Impacts Report Volume 4: Report on Heritage Impact Assessment." Volume 4. Browse Liquefied Natural Gas Precinct Strategic Assessment Report. Kimberley Land Council.
- [KLC] Kimberley Land Council. 2010d. "Indigenous Impacts Report Volume 5: Aboriginal Archaeological Site Avoidance Survey, James Price Point." Volume 5. Browse Liquefied Natural Gas Precinct Strategic Assessment Report. Kimberley Land Council.
- Larcombe, Patt. 2013. "Tsilhqot'in Current Use of Nabas Lands and Resources for Traditional Purposes: Overview and Assessment of Impacts of the Proposed New Prosperity Mine." Written Submission to the New Prosperity Panel for Topic-Specific Public Hearing on Human Environment.

- Leech, Susan, Carolyn Whittaker, Firelight Group, Doig River First Nation, David Suzuki Foundation and Rachel Plotkin. 2016. "Madziih (Caribou) Tsáá? Ché Ne Dane Traditional Knowledge and Restoration Study." Doig River First Nation.
- Legat, Allice, Gagos Social Analysts Incorporated, Georgina Chocolate, Tłįchǫ Government, Madelaine Chocolate and Chocolate Consulting. 2008. "Monitoring the Relationship between People and Caribou." West Kitikmeot Slave Study Society.
- MacDonald, Alistair. February 13, 2017. Personal communication, in-person.
- MacDonald, Alistair. 2014. "Cumulative Effects on the Aboriginal Rights and Interests of Carrier Sekani Tribal Council First Nations: A Preliminary Re-Assessment of the Coastal GasLink Project." Carrier Sekani Tribal Council.
- McCormack, Patricia. 2016. "Environmental Reviews and Case Studies: Doing Credible Cultural Assessment: Applied Social Science." *Environmental Practice* 18: 148–65.
- McCormack, Patricia A. 2013. *Affidavit of Dr. Patricia McCormack*. Edmonton, AB.
- McDaniels, T. and William Trousdale. 2005. "Resource Compensation and Negotiation Support in an Aboriginal Context: Using Community-Based Multi-Attribute Analysis to Evaluate Non-Market Losses." *Ecological Economics* 55: 173–86.
- [MCFN] Mikisew Cree First Nation. 2016. "Towards a Reconciliation Based Environmental Assessment Regime: Written Submission to the Expert Panel for the Review of Environmental Assessment Processes."
- Mcllwraith, Thomas and Raymond Cormier. 2015. "Making Place for Space: Land Use and Occupancy Studies, Counter-Mapping, and the Supreme Court of Canada's Tsilhqot'in Decision." *BC Studies* 188: 35–53.
- McKenna, Catherine. 2016. "Decision Statement: Issued Under Section 54 of the Canadian Environmental Assessment Act, 2012 for Woodfibre LNG Limited."
- Miller, Bruce Granville. 2011. Oral History on Trial: Recognizing Aboriginal Narratives in the Courts. Vancouver, BC: UBC Press.

- [MSD] Minister for State Development. 2012. "Statement That a Future Proposal(s) Identified in a Strategic Proposal May Be Implemented." Office of the Appeals Convenor.
- [MVRB] Mackenzie Valley Review Board. 2012. "Cultural Impact Assessment Guidelines: Draft." Draft. Yellowknife: Mackenzie Valley Review Board.
- [MVRB] Mackenzie Valley Review Board. 2009.
 "Developing Cultural Impact Assessment Guidelines: A Mackenzie Valley Review Board Initiative." Status Report and Information Circular. Yellowknife, NT: Mackenzie Valley Review Board.
- [MVRB] Mackenzie Valley Environmental Impact Review Board. May 2007a. "Report of Environmental Assessment and Reasons for Decision On UR Energy Inc. Screech Lake Uranium Exploration Project (EA 0607-003)." Mackenzie Valley Review Board.
- [MVRB] Mackenzie Valley Environmental Impact Review Board. March 2007b. "Socio-Economic Impact Assessment Guidelines." 2nd ed. Yellowknife, NT.
- [MVRB] Mackenzie Valley Environmental Impact Review Board. 2004. "Report of Environmental Assessment and Reasons for Decision on the New Shoshoni Ventures Preliminary Diamond Exploration in Drybones Bay."
- Nadasdy, Paul. 1999. "The Politics of TEK: Power and the 'Integration' or Knowledge." *Arctic Anthropology* 36 (1–2): 1–18.
- Noble, Bram F. 2016. "Learning to Listen: Snapshots of Aboriginal Participation in Environmental Assessment." Macdonald-Laurier Institute.
- Noble, Bram F. 2015. *Introduction to Environmental Impact Assessment: A Guide to Principles and Practice*. Third edition. Don Mills, ON: Oxford University Press.
- Nuttall, Mark. 2012. "Tipping Points and the Human World: Living with Change and Thinking about the Future." *AMBIO* 41 (1): 96–105. doi:10.1007/ s13280-011-0228-3.
- NWT Cultural Place Programs. 2007. "Living with the Land: A Manual for Documenting Cultural Landscapes in the Northwest Territories." Yellowknife, NT: Government of the Northwest Territories.

- O'Faircheallaigh, Ciaran. March 7, 2017. Personal communication, e-mail.
- O'Faircheallaigh, Ciaran. February 14, 2017. Personal communication, telephone.
- O'Faircheallaigh, Ciaran. 2013. "Extractive Industries and Indigenous Peoples: A Changing Dynamic?" *Journal of Rural Studies* 30: 20–30.
- O'Faircheallaigh, Ciaran. 2010. "Public Participation and Environmental Impact Assessment: Purposes, Implications, and Lessons for Public Policy Making." *Environmental Impact Assessment Review* 30: 19–27.
- O'Faircheallaigh, Ciaran. 2009. "Effectiveness in Social Impact Assessment: Aboriginal Peoples and Resource Development in Australia." *Impact Assessment and Project Appraisal* 27 (2): 95–110. doi:10.3152/146155109X438715.
- O'Faircheallaigh, Ciaran. 2008. "Negotiating Cultural Heritage? Aboriginal-Mining Company Agreements in Australia." *Development and Change* 39 (1): 25–51.
- O'Faircheallaigh, Ciaran. 2003. "Implementing Agreements between Indigenous Peoples and Resource Developers in Australia and Canada." 13. Aboriginal Politics and Public Sector Management. Griffith University.
- Olson, Rachel, Jeffery Hackett and Steven DeRoy. 2016. "Mapping the Digital Terrain: Towards Indigenous Geographic Information and Spatial Data Quality Indicators for Indigenous Knowledge and Traditional Land-Use Data Collection." *The Cartographic Journal*, 1–8.
- Parlee, Brenda L., Karen Geertsema and Allen Willier. 2012. "Social-Ecological Thresholds in a Changing Boreal Landscape: Insights from Cree Knowledge of the Lesser Slave Lake Region of Alberta, Canada." *Ecology and Society* 17 (2): 20. doi:doi.org/10.5751/ ES-04410-170220.
- Plieninger, Tobias, Sebastian Dijks, Elisa Oteros-Rozas, and Claudia Bieling. 2013. "Assessing, Mapping, and Quantifying Cultural Ecosystem Services at Community Level." *Land Use Policy* 33: 118–129.
- Ray, Arthur J. 2013. *Affidavit #1 of Arthur J. Ray*. Vancouver, B.C.

- [Review Panel] New Prosperity Review Panel (Canada), and Canadian Environmental Assessment Agency. 2013. "Report of the Federal Review Panel - New Prosperity Gold-Copper Mine Project, Taseko Mines Limited, British Columbia." CEAA Reference No. 63928. http://epe.lac-bac.gc.ca/100/201/301/ weekly_checklist/2014/internet/w14-01-U-E.html/ collections/collection_2013/acee-ceaa/En106-123-2013-eng.pdf.
- Ridington, Robin. 1996. "Voice, Representation, and Dialogue: The Poetics of Native American Spiritual Traditions." *American Indian Quarterly* 20 (3/4): 467–88.
- Robertson, David. 2006. *Hard as the Rock Itself: Place and Identity in the American Mining Town*. Mining the American West. Boulder, CO: University Press of Colorado.
- Sadler, Bary. 1996. "Environmental Assessment in a Changing World: Evaluating Practice to Improve Performance." Final Report. International Study of the Effectiveness of Environmental Assessment.
- Sagnia, B.K. 2004. "Framework for Cultural Impact Assessment Project." Dakar: International Network for Cultural Diversity.
- Satterfield, Terre. February 24, 2017. Personal communication, telephone.
- Satterfield, Terre, Leslie Robertson, Nathan Vadeboncouer and Anton Pitts. 2017. "Implications of a Changing Climate for Food Sovereignty in Coastal British Columbia." In *Conservation for the Anthropocene Ocean*, edited by Levin and Poe, forthcoming. Academic Press.
- Satterfield, Terre, Robin Gregory, Sarah Klain, Mere Roberts and Kai M. Chan. 2013. "Culture, Intangibles and Metrics in Environmental Management." *Journal of Environmental Management* 117: 103–14.
- Saunders, Bradley. 2017. "Aboriginal Culture Can It Be Defined or Practically Explained?" Gungarri Native Title Claimant.
- Senger, Sue. 2013. "Sustaining St'át'imc Values Through Grizzly Bear Management: And the Effects of the New Prosperity Proposal." Presented at the Federal Panel Hearing, Williams Lake, B.C., July 31.

- Tobias, Terry N. 2009. *Living Proof: The Essential Data-Collection Guide for Indigenous Use-And-Occupancy Map Surveys*. Vancouver, B.C.: Ecotrust Canada.
- Tobias, Terry N. 2000. *Chief Kerry's Moose: A Guidebook to Land Use and Occupancy Mapping, Research Design, and Data Collection.* Vancouver, B.C.: Union of BC Indian Chiefs : Ecotrust Canada.
- Toth, Brian and Michelle Tung. 2014. "Assessment of the Proposed Coastal GasLink Pipeline Project's Effects on Select Fish and Wildlife Interests of the Carrier Sekani Tribal Council (CSTC) First Nation." Carrier Sekani Tribal Council.
- [TRC] Truth and Reconciliation Commission of Canada.
 2015. Final Report of the Truth and Reconciliation Commission of Canada. Honouring the Truth, Reconciling for the Future. Volume One, Summary.
 Second printing. Toronto: James Lorimer & Company Ltd., Publishers.
- Turner, Nancy J. 2013. "Teztan Biny and Surrounding Area of British Columbia as a Cultural Keystone Place for the Tsilhqot'in Nation." University of Victoria.
- United Nations. 2008. "United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples." United Nations.
- Usher, Peter J. 2003. "Environment, Race and Nation Reconsidered: Reflections on Aboriginal Land Claims in Canada." *The Canadian Geographer/Le Géographe Canadien* 47 (4): 365–82.
- Vanclay, Frank, Ana Maria Esteves, Ilse Aucamp and Daniel M. Franks. 2015. "Social Impact Assessment: Guidance for Assessing and Managing the Social Impacts of Projects." International Association for Impact Assessment.
- Walker, Brian and Jacqueline A. Meyers. 2004.
 "Thresholds in Ecological and Social-Ecological Systems: A Developing Database." *Ecology and Society* 9 (2): 3.
- [YESAB] Yukon Environmental and Socio-Economic Assessment Board. 2012. "White River – Quartz Exploration Project Number: 2012-0080." Designated Office Evaluation Report.

Valued Components, Definitions, and Indicators

Value cultural component(s)	Definitions	Indicator type
Cultural heritage resources	The physical manifestations of culture and objects, items and ceremonies associated with sites and objects (Bannister and Nicholas 2015). The meaning associated with those sites and objects (Dyanna Jolly Consulting 2007a).	The number and range of physical sites in an area, their cultural and social context; the practices associated with the site. Areas of cultural spiritual significance (Candler et al. 2015a) NZ study identified meanings associated with sites, the Te Rūnanga o Kaikōura, 1) important places; 2) archaeological sites; 3) battle sites; 4) resting sites; 5) customary gathering of food and natural materials, and places where those resources are gathered; 6) campsites; 7) canoe-landing sites; 8) stories that are part of the history of the land; 9) place names.
Cultural landscapes and other special spiritual spaces/ places, often defined by World Heritage Convention Operational Guidelines (2012)	In ecosystem literature, cultural services are capabilities and experiences that arise in particular areas (Hernandez- Morcillo et al. 2013; Plieninger et al. 2013); in anthropological literature, pertains to the cultural properties in the natural environment, key expressions of which are oral traditions, traditional practices, and intense interactions with living and non-living components of the environment (Andrews and Buggey 2008), or interconnected heritage sites, including the travel routes and spaces between them (Ehrlich 2012).	Landscape units that have culturally defined meaning (Bryan et al. 2010) (represented using spatial indices associating social values with an area). Perception of loss of value and meaning of the cultural landscape when a project occurs (Gill and Ritchie 2011).

Value cultural component(s)	Definitions	Indicator type
Culturally significant species (not frequently cited, but occurs more in ecosystem literature)	Cultural keystone species are those with which a nation has a strong relationship, "culturally salient species that shape in a major way the cultural identity of a people, as reflected in the fundamental roles these species have in diet, materials, medicine, and/or spiritual practice (Garibaldi and Turner 2004, 1). Legat et al. (2008) write of the Tłįcho laws governing human behaviour with caribou populations and migration patterns, identifying Tłįcho indicators of change (Legat et al. 2008, 2). The report finds that lack of knowledge "can lead to a decline in caribou population, changes to caribou distribution, and a dysfunctional society" (Ibid., 2). Other reports focus more specifically on traditional knowledge held by culture holders (Leech et al. 2016). These species (both plants and animals) are significant and their loss or impacts on them may be as drastic to the human communities that depend on them (Garibaldi and Turner 2004).	The laws, for example of being knowledgeable as a sign of respect of caribou (Legat et al. 2008). Emergency of species or resource vital to cultural transmission or cultural practices or harvest areas (MCFN 2016). Elements that may be considered in identifying a cultural keystone species include: 1) intensity, type, multiplicity of use; 2) naming and terminology in a language, including the use as seasonal or phonological indicators; 3) role in narratives, ceremonies, or symbolism; 4) persistence and memory of use in relationship to cultural exchange; 5) unique position within culture; 6) extent to which it provides opportunities for resource acquisition from beyond the territory (Garibaldi and Turner 2004).
Culture and land tenure	Systems of natural resources use, including land tenure systems (Sagnia 2004).	Social organization may be tied closely to the system of land tenure, which may also reflect transmission of rights, property, and gender relationships. Changes to land tenure through mining or changes in property ownership may interfere with these relationships.

Value cultural component(s)	Definitions	Indicator type
Relationship to land and traditional activities on the land (including practice of traditional economy)	Harvesting areas, those where traditional lifestyles are practiced through activities such as hunting, trapping, fishing, and harvesting (Ehrlich 2012; Nutall 2012). Land users' perceptions of changes over time (Parlee et al. 2012), and in Candler at al. (2015b) harvesting is treated as "harvesting rights." Subsistence and cultural use in the area (Candler et al. 2015a).	 Perception of connection to traditional lands. Places available for transfer of knowledge (MCFN 2016). Time spent on the land conducting traditional practices (associated with connected indicators of health and well-being). Traditional use and practices for teaching language, culture, and history (MCFN 2016). Consumption of country foods and availability. Often linked to perceived and real physical degradation of habitat and lower harvesting success for key wildlife species. Time spent in kin relationships. Transmission of place based knowledge. Perceptions of change over time by land users. Consideration of important species and resources. Harvest locations. Means of harvest focused on species (Candler et al. 2015b).

Value cultural component(s)	Definitions	Indicator type
Values and belief systems	Oral history and storytelling (Ridington 1996)	Continuity of storytelling in place (Ridington 1996).
	Musical or expressive culture associated with place.	Incidence of use of items or expressive culture in the area.
	Tangible use or expression associated with place (Sangia 2004). Religious and ritual ceremonies.	Cultural norms and values. Social organization, customs, traditions, or ceremonies (MCFN 2016).
	Cultural practices, beliefs, and values.	Cultural values can be very site specific, e.g., Ngāti Kuri associations with the Awatere River: cultural values associated with freshwater; spiritual dimensions; life-supporting capacity; water in worldview/"mountains to the sea"; customary gathering of food and natural materials; rights and responsibilities associated with holding customary authority over an area; sustainable use and management (Dyanna Jolly Consulting 2007b). Spiritual/religious tradition, loss of faith in traditions.
Way of life (Candler et al. 2015a) combined several qualities into one valued component	Includes the indicators of language, sense of place, identity, and the ability of nation members to maintain transmission of knowledge, and continuity of practice and experience, in particular culturally important places and between generations.	Language. Transmission of culture. Confidence and trust in traditional resources (MCFN 2016).

Value cultural component(s)	Definitions	Indicator type
Practices of cultural transmission (including language, oral history, intergeneration relations, social networks)	Maintenance of Aboriginal language and transmission of cultural knowledge regarding a particular area (MVRB 2012). Trails, activities on the land, resource use, and harvesting and associated cultural practices (Hammatt 2008).	 Aboriginal place names. Frequency of Aboriginal language use. Families spending time out on the land. Contributions to changes in social structures leading to cultural loss (e.g., decline of intergenerational culture transmission). Contribution to cumulative loss of Indigenous language. Linked to changing political structures and power relations (e.g., Elders vs. politicians or business-people as leaders).
Sense of self; sense of place; overall wellbeing	The characteristics that make a place special or unique and the qualities of the ecosystem that create a sense of collective belonging (Hernandez-Morcillo et al. 2013); the meaning a landscape holds, and the emotional significance that is a produce of interaction with the land over time (Robertson 2006), or the less observable facets of landscape including the atmosphere and sentimental value (Robertson 2006). Sense of place will be of particular importance for a First Nation regardless of whether traditional use activities are at play (YESAB 2012). With respect to health outcomes, connection to country, or behaviours related to forming a connection to country, are important influences on the social determinants of Indigenous health (Ganesharajah 2009).	Loss of sense of control over one's own fate. Health impact outcomes caused by cultural impacts (e.g., increased suicide, alcohol and drug addiction, poor diet).
Governance	The ability to make governance decisions collectively.	Stewardship and autonomy in decision making (Candler et al. 2015a; O'Faircheallaigh 2003, 2009, 2010).

Value cultural component(s)	Definitions	Indicator type
	DefinitionsThe ability to hunt, trap, and fish on undeveloped Crown land (Ray 2013).The act does not direct review panels to consider impacts on Aboriginal and treaty rights, despite the fact that 	Indicator typeLaws and norms and their continued application.Rights tends to be identified by the Crown as right to trap, hunt, and fish.Access and right of access,Affect on adjacent lands (MCFN 2016),Rights in Indigenous writing tends to be articulated as norms, laws, and responsibilities (Legat et al. 2008).Nature of Treaty 8 and Traditional Land Use Right; 1) Reserve Lands/Lands in Severalty: resources of their traditional lands – for hunting, fishing, trapping, and gathering – would still be required, the same means of earning a livelihood would continue after the treaty as it had existed before; 2) Broader Traditional Lands: needed and expected access to virtually all of their land base (traditional territory) which contained most of the required resources, graves of relatives, variety of sacred places related to oral traditions and their visions (McCormack 2013).

Contextual Factors in Making Impact Determinations

Adapted from Gibson et al. 2011.

Significance factor	Questions the assessors may want to consider
Nature of impact	Which valued cultural components does the impact threaten? How does it threaten them? What pathway would it occur by? Knowledge of pathways of impact that can be blocked or managed by mitigation is essential to minimizing or eliminating impacts.
	Describe clearly the characteristics of the effects, whether they are loss of access, noise, effects on current use of lands and resources, effects on sites, change in aesthetics, or change in knowledge transmission or spiritual values.
Situational context	What is the evidence for values being impacted within the potentially affected area?
	How sensitive are the valued cultural components to change – will a little bit of change fundamentally alter the values associated with the place? How vulnerable or resilient are the valued cultural components that may be affected? What is the current status and trends for indicators related to them? Less-resilient elements of culture, if they are deemed important by culture holders, should be prioritized for mitigation. What is the social scale at which impacts are experienced (i.e., individual, family, or group)?
	Is the place or landscape one of many similar important places or is it the "one and only"?
	Is there the potential for cascading impacts from this cultural change?
	Are there cumulative effects that need to be considered from other developments?
	Does the area that will be impacted have multiple uses by many different groups?

Significance factor	Questions the assessors may want to consider
Trade-offs	Will there be beneficial effects to offset adverse effects? Will the beneficial effects be on the same valued components or different? For example, economic growth at the expense of cultural decline may require mitigation that takes financial capital and converts it to cultural assets.
	Are there any activities or values associated with the location to be impacted that will be inevitably constrained, altered, or eliminated if the development proceeds (e.g., practices or rituals)?
Capacity to manage and social acceptability	Will any identified thresholds of acceptable change be approached or breached if the development proceeds? Are there thresholds already breached that increase the significance of any additional changes? Does the predicted change exceed the existing capacity of the community and government services to absorb the change?
	Are there management plans in place and do they anticipate likely increased change?
Geographic area and distribution	How many communities, culture groups, areas of cultural importance, and valued cultural components will be impacted by this development?
Likelihood	Is there a greater than 50 per cent chance the impact will occur? Does the estimated magnitude of the change make a 50 per cent likelihood too high to consider? What is the estimate based on and what assumptions were used? Who made the estimation? Are there people who disagree with it?
Impact equity	Are certain cultural groups or subgroups within a culture more likely to be impacted? For example, Elders, people who rely on the traditional economy and live on the land, women, and youth, in that order, are often more likely to be impacted by adverse cultural change.
Public concern	Is there a high level and wide cross section of the culture group (and others) expressing concern about the proposed activity?

Kimberley Land Council – Browse LNG Precinct

As a part of the siting process for a new liquefied natural gas (LNG) facility proposed by the Minister for State Development in Australia, the Kimberley Land Council (KLC) reviewed many sites and selected the site with the least cultural and social impacts, after studies were completed for six Indigenous Impacts Reports. Each volume was prepared to address Indigenous aspects of the terms of reference (ToR) for the Commonwealth Strategic Assessment. This strategic assessment involved an extensive process of voluntary siting of the precinct, with a variety of agreements, management plans, and mitigation measures in play.

This Australian example constitutes a strikingly different approach to consent than Canadian processes. Overall, the strategic assessment approach to selecting a site for industrial development is promising due to the ability to set site selection criteria that include culture, heritage, and rights. One of the site selection criteria is Indigenous informed consent (as ratified by the Native title tribunal). Each volume of the KLC Strategic Assessment has specific impacts identified, as well as safeguards and measures that must be in place for Indigenous peoples to benefit from the development of the facility and be protected. Within each volume, a different aspect of culture was reviewed using a mixed-method approach for examining the baseline, context, and site meaning. Culture aspects examined include rights, socio-economic impacts, cultural heritage, and enthobotany. In the end, the development was agreed to by the KLC and the Traditional Owners (TOs), under the condition that the recommendations of each report, and all studies, mitigations, and management measures are undertaken in partnership with the TOs.

The terms of reference (ToR) for the assessment were quite broad, thus the corresponding studies were as well. The Traditional Owners interpreted these broad terms themselves, and included a requirement to show consent was offered in a culturally appropriate manner to the establishment of an LNG precinct, and the consultation efforts (ToR 7), which led to a Consent Report, Volume 2 (KLC 2010b).

In addition to being reviewed within each of the KLC research reports and volumes, culture was also actively reinforced, specifically governance, in the setting of the terms for the parallel engagement on the siting decision. The Traditional Owners Taskforce (TOTF), established in 2008, drew on and reinforced the "wunan when making decisions, negotiating agreements and planning for benefits... The wunan can be viewed as an overarching foundational practice of local and regional Indigenous governance, like a blueprint for living, which has currency throughout the Kimberley" (KLC 2010b, 26). The wunan, or the Indigenous law and way of being as described by the TOs, was drawn on to identify who to bring into the conversations, how to share benefits, how to structure meetings, and how to make decisions. The TOTF constituted an attempt by the KLC and senior Indigenous peoples to draw on their traditional governance and decision-making practices while incorporating contemporary meeting procedures, decision making, and information transfer practices, to create a unique, culturally appropriate, consistent, and comprehensive consultation and engagement process. This process involved interaction among themselves, with other Kimberley Traditional Owners and various other interests such as proponents, governments, NGOs, and the wider public. The KLC considers that this decision making processes developed by Kimberley Traditional Owners constitutes 'best practice' with regard

to development-related decision making (KLC 2010b, 22). The participation and decision making approach that the TOs developed were drawn from customary practice.

Further, this set of studies took a very broad view of culture, with recognition that in an Indigenous context there are no clear boundaries between cultural, social, heritage, and environmental aspects of a large industrial project such as an LNG precinct. A single 'source of impact,' such as damage to the marine environment or an influx of non-indigenous people, can simultaneously create impacts along all of these dimensions (KLC 2010a, 9).

Rights were also considered within the reports where rights are viewed broadly as the right to participate in determinations of project developments that will occur in Indigenous lands. In this case, the TOs were assured of a collaborative process throughout the siting process, but this collaboration was undermined by a state decision to unilaterally select James Price Point. The Report on Traditional Owner Consent and Indigenous Community Consultation (Volume 2) addressed the question of 'whether the Traditional Owners have given informed consent, in a culturally appropriate manner' to the establishment of an LNG Precinct in the Kimberley region (ToR clause 7(h)).

The standard of free, prior, and informed consent (FPIC) was used in the siting process, including the benchmarks for assessment of granting consent. The report finds sufficient resources were applied to the consent process, and therefore that the site selection partially embodied the principle of FPIC. However, FPIC was threatened by a compulsory acquisition threat (in the absence of agreement), time constraints, the threat of loss of state funding (in the event of no agreement), and weak baseline information.

The culture studies used in the report involved a mixedmethod approach and included archaeological review, oral testimony, document reviews, ethnographic data from previous studies, quantitative surveys, mapping, flora and fauna surveys, and site visits. Rights methodology involves an analysis of the process in which Indigenous people participate in the decision-making process, and then a characterization of how these processes conform to international benchmarks. Notably, the study process that was undertaken for some of the studies is quite different. The social impact team included three KLC staff, as well as outside planners, and represented a gender balance. The process in this social impact study involved iterative review of the project, concerns, and the impacts in many settings. The social impact practitioners captured people's concerns on white board and paper, and then came back in a subsequent session to review these same concerns again. This has the effect of verifying concerns, as well as triggering new information. Study practitioners reported this to be one of the most effective and vital ways for TOs to feel informed, engaged, and to provide their data.

In this prospective siting process, the Ministry of State Development permitted the development of the LNG precinct, and mandated a set of Environmental Values and Environmental Quality Objectives for the Marine Waters off James Price Point and the Port Area (MSD 2012, 49). The MSD required that conditions set out in the report would all apply, if the siting of a facility should occur within five years, including such cultural provisions as to assess the condition and potential threats to Aboriginal and natural heritage locations during construction, operation, and closure (MSD 2012, 20). In addition, there are also more than 90 cultural heritage, values, and governance provisions set out in the KLC reports that are expected to be implemented.

Overall, this case represents the most comprehensive treatment of project effects on culture, social and cultural life, and cultural heritage. It is done prospectively, and involved a massive mobilization of people, resources, and time. In part, this case was made possible due to the large amount of available monetary resources, as well as the high level of organization and powerful position of the KLC.

Squamish Nation Process – Woodfibre LNG

Proposed in 2013, the Woodfibre LNG project incorporated an independent assessment designed and implemented by the Squamish Nation, titled the Squamish Nation Process (SNP), which outlined all the conditions that were required by the proponent in order to have approval and consent from the nation. Triggering an EA under both BC's Environment Assessment Act and the Canadian Environmental Assessment Act (CEAA 2012), the project was approved for substituting the CEAA assessment for the provincial process with a few substitution requirements and the assessment report was completed by the BC Environmental Assessment Office (BC EAO). In the end, with all conditions addressed and agreements made, both the Squamish Nation and the Minister of Environment, Catherine McKenna, approved the project and construction is set to begin in 2017 (McKenna 2016).

As the first British Columbian First Nation to develop an assessment process, the Squamish Nation Process was designed to allow the nation to make informed decisions from the community perspective. Contrary to legislative approaches, the SNP places heavy emphasis on community engagement, which is the keystone of the entire process. Squamish Nation chose to focus on which impacts had the highest priority to the community as opposed to conveying the level of significance for each impact, as they recognize the subjectivity of significance and its limitations. Overall, the Woodfibre LNG project gives a concrete example of the success of the implementation of an Aboriginal independent assessment in achieving informed consent and shared decision-making power, including influencing project design.

In addition, parallel to the Crown's EA process, Squamish Nation chose to use the valued component (VC) concept that is used by the Crown for consistency, but defined it in its own way to be reflective of Squamish Nation's unique land management perspective and goals (Bruce and Hume 2015, 10). Completely different from the existing EA process, the SNP approach of using Aboriginal rights and title as an all-encompassing, solitary VC demonstrates the interplay between rights and culture and changes how issues are framed within an environmental assessment. Underneath this umbrella VC were interconnected guiding topics that were determined by community input and used to assess project impacts.

As a process that was developed and implemented by the culture holders themselves, the Squamish Nation Process creates an opportunity to address gaps of Indigenous culture and rights within the current legislative EA process through a wholly Aboriginal perspective. Built on community engagement, SNP not only ensures that all voices are heard, but also promotes the capacity building of community members for meaningful contribution. In addition, the SNP also emphasizes the role of cumulative impacts through a holistic and multi-generational approach.

As the basis of the Squamish Nation's solitary VC, rights played a large role with the way impacts are addressed with an emphasis on how they will affect Aboriginal rights and title. An interconnected model was used to examine rights, with a focus more on how the community felt the project was going to affect their way of life rather than a strictly legal sense (Bruce, personal communication, February 17, 2017).

Due to the confidential nature of the Squamish Nation Process, the independent assessment report is not publicly available and thus many specific details on the methodology cannot be known at this time. In addition, when involved in the SNP, proponents agree not to provide any information regarding Squamish Nation Aboriginal rights and title, or any other interests, in their EA submissions to provincial or federal governments unless the nation consents (Bruce and Hume 2015, 8).

In recognizing the issue of subjectivity in significance determination, the SNP avoids use of definitive terminology; in doing so, Squamish Nation hopes to achieve a more holistic view of determining impacts compared to current EA models, in which if an impacts exists, but is not deemed significant, then it does not receive further consideration. In this way, Squamish Nation is able to highlight which impacts are of the highest concern based on community discussion and including a technical review from the independent consultant. For example, Woodfibre gives a context in which an Aboriginal independent assessment process is conducted, and it highlights the processes that contributed to that success. Predominately, the willingness of the proponent to accept the SNP as a legitimate process is crucial, as it is a voluntary procedure that is proponent funded. Second, timeline rigidity needs to be addressed and allow for more flexibility to ensure there is time for the independent assessment to occur. Within the Woodfibre EA, there are examples of approved procedural restructuring to allow for the Squamish Nation Process, such as delaying reporting requirements (BC EAO 2015). In addition, the Woodfibre report clearly documents the conditions determined by the Squamish Nation Process for project approval and responses from both the proponent and the BC EAO on how those conditions will be fulfilled (BC EAO 2015, Table 18-1), including issues of access into controlled zones for traditional use and switching to alternative cooling technologies to limit potential impacts that would infringe on Aboriginal rights.

Finally, it is important to mention that there were also unique circumstances and limitations to the SNP including:

- Proponent involvement within the Squamish Nation is voluntary, although agreements between the proponent and Squamish Nation are legally binding. There are also benefits for cooperation from the proponent, including decreased risk of legal battles and better relationships between the First Nation community, the Crown, and the proponent (Bruce and Hume 2015, 8).
- Access to funds to support the Squamish Nation Process (to be funded by the proponent).
- As the Squamish Nation Process is confidential, there is limited public access to relevant files, including description of culture.

Drybones Bay and the Upper Thelon

In the NWT between 2004 and 2009, a variety of mineral exploration programs were either turned down, or the proponent withdrew, due primarily to consideration of cultural impacts on locations in which exploration was proposed to occur. New Shoshoni Ventures' (NSV) Drybones Bay proposal was rejected by the Minister of Indigenous and Northern Affairs Canada (INAC) in 2006, as was the Ur-Energy Screech Lake Project in the Upper Thelon in 2007, based on recommendations by the Mackenzie Valley Review Board.

In the Drybones Bay case, the proponent's one page submission on cultural impacts suggested there would be no indirect or direct impacts on culture, largely on the basis of the small, primarily subsurface, physical footprint of the exploration program. Aboriginal groups countered that Drybones Bay is of critical cultural importance for use and spiritual reasons, and any industrial development was incompatible with Indigenous values for the area. Contributing factors to the ultimate rejection included that the NSV Drybones Bay project would likely:

- Result in direct and indirect impacts to the abundant known and suspected archaeological sites in Drybones Bay;
- Adversely affect the well-being of the families that want to continue honouring ancestors buried in Drybones Bay; and
- Alter the traditional use of Drybones Bay and diminish the cultural identity and well-being of Aboriginal parties.

In the Ur-Energy Screech Lake EA of 2007, the Review Board and Minister found that the project would cause cultural impacts of a spiritual nature in the Upper Thelon Basin so significant that the development could not be justified. Contributing factors to this rejection included:

- Disruption of the spiritual importance of a place where many Dene believe "God began";
- Reduction of Dene ability to pass this area on to future generations as they found it; and

 Widespread "distress" and "public concern" as encountered in written and verbal submissions by many Dene from across a wide range of community demographics.

Unlike the NSV Drybones Bay EA, the Upper Thelon EAs were not focused on one specific site; they were focused on a large area, all of which needed to be considered as a singular cultural landscape and throughout all of which, industrial development was deemed irreconcilable. Thus, the Review Board recognized through these very different EAs, that culture can be the primary or sole reason for rejection of a project, in a specific location or in a larger region.

Key findings in the two cases included that the size of a project is not a direct proxy for its cultural impact potential. These cases represent assessment of projects at the very earliest stage of the mining life cycle. The Review Board made clear that although the proposed projects were physically small, their potential cultural impacts were not. Another key finding of the Review Board was the critical role of oral testimony of culture holders in making cultural significance determinations. The NSV case was groundbreaking in that the Review Board articulated for the first time a critical principle of assessment of significance of cultural impacts that "cultural impacts are best identified and addressed when relayed by the holders of the cultural knowledge: the community members themselves" (MVRB 2004).

The Review Board set the terms for both EAs to include subsistence and traditional use, and cultural and heritage resources, including distinguishing "culturally significant sites," an expansion of culture beyond physical heritage resources critical to the ultimate significance determination that the areas are ones in which people seek refuge and healing, and where new generations are taught about culture and history.

While culture was scoped broadly, the focus on rights in these EAs was minimal. The concepts of FPIC and the UN Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples, for example, were *not* considered by the Review Board. There was, unlike in the Australian example, no explicit requirement for, nor consideration of, the consent of affected Indigenous groups.

Cultural data inputs include:

- Traditional land use maps illustrating the use values in the area;
- Heritage studies focused on historic use;
- Testimony from a non-partisan territorial archaeologist held high weight, including on physical known heritage resources, likelihood of unfound heritage resources, and cultural landscape delineation;
- Oral testimony offered in public hearings, which was ultimately given the greatest weight by decision makers; and
- The oral testimony of Elders, youth, leaders, and other land users was all considered evidence of both likely impacts and public concern levels, both critical in the MVRMA decision-making process.

The Review Board considered multiple factors in recommending rejection of both NSV and Screech Lake on cultural grounds, including:

- Density of known and potential for physical heritage resources;
- Recognition of spiritual values of the areas;
- Number and nature of stated concerns of community members;
- Outright opposition to any development in the locations by culture holders, as expressed in the vehemence and emotion of presenters;
- Psycho-social impact of development in the areas;
- Irreversibility of some losses "Some places, once violated, can never in the collective memory be pristine again" (June 23, 2005 – MVRB);
- Multiplicity of uses (e.g., gathering, spiritual, burial, harvesting);
- Multiple users (more than one Aboriginal group valued these locations); and
- Centrality of the locations in the cultural landscape of Aboriginal people.

Furthermore, the Drybones Bay decision for the first time distinguished clearly between physical heritage impacts and "cultural impacts" and also recognized that while it may not always be possible to quantify cultural "footprint impacts" in the same way as it is for physical resources, "this does not lessen their importance." The decision delved deeply into the many impact pathways and potential ultimate outcomes of impacts on culture, and included such previously nonconsidered effects as:

- Reduction of the value of a place in the hearts and minds of the culture group;
- Reduced inability to know and teach about a place between generations;
- Reduced connection to the landscape reducing cultural continuity overall;
- Loss of a place of refuge from the "modern" world;
- Disrespect of ancestors, as a valid impact pathway, and an abrogation of responsibility by the culture holders as well as the Crown; and
- Increased outsider access to a critical cultural area contributing to culture holder alienation.

These cases also led to the Review Board drafting (but to date not issuing) significance considerations for cultural impact assessment; some of the considerations they identified are included in Appendix B.

Overall through this case, the Review Board articulated that when assessing significance of cultural impacts, the words and opinions of the culture holders themselves must be heavily weighted. The decisions showed that location can trump all other elements, including project size and magnitude of physical effects, when it comes to estimation of significance of cultural impacts. The psycho-social impacts of both loss of access to the cultural landscape and inability to honour ancestors, were explicitly recognized as valid EA issues. The Review Board also recognized that some impacts on culture are fundamentally unmitigable, as industrial development may be incompatible with certain portions of the cultural landscape, and found in the relationship that people have to the land rather than through physical artefacts. Decision-makers can also recognize a much larger area as culturally important, expanding the geographic scope of protection available for

cultural landscapes. However, the Review Board's blanket approach – a "do not enter" sign on a whole region in the Upper Thelon – is one that has been criticized as de facto land use planning that is not meant for environmental assessment, and the Review Board's approach has not been generally replicated "south of 60." In addition, the federal Crown adoption of the recommendations creates a precedent that the Crown must consider rejection on cultural grounds a viable option. Limitations on the applicability of this case to MCFN include that the MVRMA is more strongly worded legislation than the current CEAA, especially regarding Aboriginal well-being and culture, and that the MVRB is a co-management board with representatives of the culture groups of the Mackenzie Valley on it. Nothing similar is in place in either the Alberta or federal "south of 60" process at this time.

New Prosperity Taseko Mine

After two distinct environmental assessments, the Taseko Mines Limited proposed New Prosperity Gold-Copper Mine project has yet to be accepted by the Minister due to the Review Panel findings. In particular, the final 2013 CEAA report found that there would be significant adverse environmental effect on water quality, fish and fish habitat in Fish Lake, current use of lands and resources for traditional purposes, and cultural heritage. Currently, Taseko is seeking judicial reviews of the decisions and trying to have the decision over-turned in its favour.

This case study highlights the importance of site visits in which the panel went with Tsilhqot'in representatives to Xeni Gwet'in to understand the view of the project sites and effects. In addition, many community presentations, oral histories, and photos were presented at hearings, which seemed to have provided the context for the CEAA panel to understand impacts, in particular spiritual impacts, from the Elders' point of view. Many expert reports were also brought to the forefront that refer to many different aspects of culture, including a traditional use study, cultural keystone places, knowledge transmission, and sense of place, among others. Alongside panel findings of significant adverse effects on current land use and resources, culture heritage, and archaeology, there was also a finding that the project would interfere with rights and title, which were defined separately.

The current use of lands and resources is understood in the report to be ceremonial and spiritual practices, and cultural heritage is archaeological sites, burial and cremation sites in the area that would be subsumed by tailings during mine operation. Even though the mine promised to maintain access, this alternative was rejected by the affected nations due to fear of contamination and loss of connection to a culturally significant place. The mine would reduce the area for practice of rights, disturb burial and cremation sites, and endanger the ability to sustain their way of life.

Rights were treated separately from culture and were defined and constrained by the terms of reference (ToR). A procedural review led the panel to state that: "The Panel must therefore assess how the potential environmental effects of the Project may affect relevant Aboriginal interests,

rather than attempting to determine the validity of the Crown's duty to consult and accommodate in relation to those claims" (Review Panel 2013, 17).

Overall, the panel's terms of reference, which were reviewed after the change from CEAA to CEAA 2012, required the panel to consider the environmental effects of the project, including with respect to the Tsilhqot'in and Secwepemc peoples, any effect of any change that may be caused to the environment on:

- Health and socio-economic conditions;
- Physical and cultural heritage;
- Current use of lands and resources for traditional purposes; or
- Structure, site, or thing that is of historical, archaeological, paleontological, or architectural significance.

Culture played a primary role in the assessment, and is broken into a range of categories for different nations, which focuses on current use of land and resources for traditional purposes, archaeological and historical resources, and cultural heritage. Examples of culture-based expert reports include: traditional use and occupancy studies (Erhart-English 1994; Erhart-English 2010; Larcombe 2012); ethnoecology and ethnobiology (Turner 2012); species specific studies (Senger 2012), as well as archaeology and cultural heritage studies with Xeni Gwet'in Elders, among others. Much of the research surrounding culture impacts was developed through hearings and site visits; however, there were many reports such as those mentioned previously that were developed to support the hearing presentations. In particular, when making their final determinations the panel looked at current use by the Aboriginal group, fishing, hunting and trapping, plant and medicine gathering, archaeology, cultural heritage, cultural keystone places, and significance of animals in the cultural area (greater detail on all these aspects of culture can be found in the table in Appendix A).

Taskeko's interpretation of Aboriginal right was that it is a practice, custom, or tradition integral to the distinctive culture of an Aboriginal community that was exercised prior to contact with the European settlers, being 1793 (Review Panel 2013, 202). This view was held in contrast to the nation. It was heard by the panel that within the project area the Tsilhqot'in Nation has:

- Proven Aboriginal rights to: (a) hunt and trap birds and animals for the purposes of securing animals for work and transportation, food, clothing, shelter, mats, blankets and crafts, as well as for spiritual, ceremonial, and cultural uses; (b) capture and use wild horses for transportation and work; and (b) trade in skins and pelts as a means of securing a moderate livelihood;
- Asserted Aboriginal rights to fish and gather plants and medicines (tantamount to proven);
- Asserted Aboriginal rights to conduct cultural and spiritual ceremonies at and around Fish Lake (Teztan Biny); and
- Asserted Aboriginal title to specific sites. (Review Panel 2013, 204)

For cultural heritage effects, the panel followed the agency's guide, Reference Guide on Physical and Cultural Heritage Resources, which indicates that the following aspects should be considered: magnitude; geographic extent; duration and frequency; reversibility; and context. The difference is that the final factor is "context," not "ecological context." In considering "context," the panel also listened carefully to information provided by those who would be affected by the project (Review Panel 2013, 23).

The panel's relevant factors included the cultural keystone place (of Fish Lake and Nabas), the importance of use in that specific area, the importance of the cultural and spiritual value, due to historic occupation, and the profound importance of the spiritual connection, as identified by experts (Ehrhart-English 1994). Further, the area is one of the last remaining areas, and is a site where culture is passed on, orally and along with animals, and that there are significant archaeological and cultural heritage sites.

The panel concluded that the project would result in significant adverse effects on the Tsilhqot'in to current use of lands and resources for traditional purposes, as well as on cultural heritage. It was determined that these effects cannot be adequately mitigated.

The panel understood the area to represent one of the few regions in Canada subject to a judicial declaration of proven Aboriginal hunting and trapping rights, and the Tsilhqot'in stated that there would be a severe infringement on proven Aboriginal rights, and significant and immitigable adverse effect on teaching, and displacement from a sacred site would amount to severe infringement, and loss of Fish Lake would be loss of a cultural school (Review Panel 2013, 214).

Overall, alongside the impacts to culture, the panel concludes that the project would interfere with Tsilhqot'in proven and asserted Aboriginal rights (Review Panel 2013, 212). In addition, the panel determined that the project would interfere with lands over which the Tsilhqot'in, the Esk'etemc, and the Stswecem'c Xgat'tem assert Aboriginal title (Review Panel 2013, 215). Throughout this case, culture and rights were clearly articulated in person, through photos, and in many reports through each of the expert reports and in hearings which led to the panel making these determinations.



WOOD BUFFALO NATIONAL PARK PHOTO COURTESY PAUL ZIZSKA / ZIZKA.CA



Mikisew Cree First Nation is a Cree nation whose lands and rights depend on the Peace–Athabasca Delta and surrounding waters. The Mikisew Cree signed Treaty 8 in 1899 at Fort Chipewyan on Lake Athabasca. Today, MCFN members reside in Fort Chipewyan as well as Fort McMurray, Edmonton, Fort Smith, NWT, and elsewhere.